
 
 

Scrutiny Panel A 
 

 Thursday, 22nd November, 
2012 
at 4.00 pm 

PLEASE NOTE TIME OF MEETING 
Council Chamber - Civic Centre 

 
This meeting is open to the public 

 
 Members 

 
 Councillor Claisse 

Councillor Daunt 
Councillor Kaur (Chair) 
Councillor McEwing (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Mintoff 
Councillor Vinson 
Councillor Whitbread 
 

 Contacts 
 Senior Democratic Support Officer 

Natalie Noke 
Tel: 023 8083 3950 
Email: natalie.noke@southampton.gov.uk 
 

  

 Policy and Performance Analyst 
Dorota Goble 
Tel: 023 8083 3317 
Email: dorota.goble@southampton.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack



 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 
 

Role of Scrutiny Panel A Public Representations  
 

The Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee have 
instructed Scrutiny Panel A to undertake 
an inquiry into Welfare Reforms Review. 
 
Purpose: 
 
Understand the timetable of welfare 
reforms and how the local impact can 
be assessed as part of Council Decision 
making.  
 
Consider duties and responsibilities 
under the new legislation and identify 
opportunities for the co-ordination of 
current and future service delivery  
 
Identify opportunities for policy 
development, with a particular focus on 
helping people into employment and 
tackling family breakdown:- 
 

Southampton City Council’s Six 
Priorities 

• Providing good value, high quality 
services 

• Getting the City working 

• Investing in education and training 

• Keeping people safe 

• Keeping the City clean and green 

• Looking after people 

 

At the discretion of the Chair, members of 
the public may address the meeting about 
any report on the agenda for the meeting 
in which they have a relevant interest. 
 
Smoking policy – the Council operates a 
no-smoking policy in all civic buildings. 
 
Mobile Telephones – please turn off your 
mobile telephone whilst in the meeting. 
 
Fire Procedure – in the event of a fire or 
other emergency a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised by Council 
officers what action to take. 
 
Access – access is available for the 
disabled. Please contact the Democratic 
Support Officer who will help to make any 
necessary arrangements. 
 
 
 
Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 

2012 2013 

25 October  10 January 

22 November 7 February 

6 December 7 March 

 
 
 



 

 
CONDUCT OF MEETING 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE  
The general role and terms of reference 
of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee, together with 
those for all Scrutiny Panels, are set out 
in Part 2 (Article 6) of the Council’s 
Constitution, and their particular roles 
are set out in Part 4 (Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules – paragraph 
5) of the Constitution. 
 

BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED 
Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this 
meeting. 

 

RULES OF PROCEDURE 
The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules as set out in 
Part 4 of the Constitution. 

QUORUM 
The minimum number of appointed 
Members required to be in attendance to 
hold the meeting is 3. 

 
 

DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST 
Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of 
Conduct, both the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Personal Interest” or 
“Other Interest”  they may have in relation to matters for consideration on this 
Agenda. 

DISCLOSABLE PERSONAL INTERESTS 
A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
in any matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner 
in relation to:  
 
(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
(ii) Sponsorship: 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 
Southampton City Council) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of 
any expense incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992. 
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which 
the you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council 
under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed, and 
which has not been fully discharged. 
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton. 
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 
Southampton for a month or longer. 
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council 
and the tenant is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests. 
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your 
knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of Southampton, and either: 

a) the total nominal value fo the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 



 

the total issued share capital of that body, or 
b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 

value of the shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a 
beneficial interest that exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that class. 

 

Other Interests 
 
 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a, ‘Other Interest’ in any 
membership of, or  occupation of a position of general control or management in: 

 
 
Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City 
Council 
 
Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature 
 
Any body directed to charitable purposes 
 
Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
 

Principles of Decision Making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

• proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

• due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

• respect for human rights; 

• a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

• setting out what options have been considered; 

• setting out reasons for the decision; and 

• clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

• understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to 
it.  The decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

• take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the 
authority as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

• leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

• act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

• not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also 
known as the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

• comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an 
annual basis.  Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ 
and forward funding are unlawful; and 

• act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 
 



 

 

AGENDA 

 

Agendas and papers are now available via the City Council’s website  
 

 

1 APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  
 

 To note any changes in membership of the Panel made in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 4.3.  
 

2 DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS  
 

 In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting. 
 

NOTE:  Members are reminded that, where applicable, they must complete the 
appropriate form recording details of any such interests and hand it to the Democratic 
Support Officer.  

 
3 DECLARATIONS OF SCRUTINY INTEREST  

 
 Members are invited to declare any prior participation in any decision taken by a 

Committee, Sub-Committee, or Panel of the Council on the agenda and being 
scrutinised at this meeting.  
 

4 DECLARATION OF PARTY POLITICAL WHIP  
 

 Members are invited to declare the application of any party political whip on any matter 
on the agenda and being scrutinised at this meeting.  
 

5 STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR  
 

6 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  
 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting on 25th October, 
2012 and to deal with any matters arising, attached.  
 

7 WELFARE REFORMS INQUIRY MEETING 2: SETTING THE SCENE  
 

 To consider the report of the Senior Manager, Customer and Business Improvement 
giving details of the presentations that will be given at the second meeting of the 
Inquiry, attached.  
 
Wednesday, 14 November 2012 HEAD OF LEGAL, HR AND DEMOCRATIC 

SERVICES 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

SCRUTINY PANEL A

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 25 October 2012

Present: Councillors Kaur, McEwing, Mintoff, Vinson, Whitbread and Parnell 

  

Apologies: Councillors Claisse and Daunt 

1. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

The Panel noted that Councillor Kaur had been appointed as a new Member of 
the Panel to replace Councillor Thomas and that Councillor Parnell was in 
attendance as a nominated substitute for Councillor Claisse in accordance with 
Council Procedure Rule 4.3. 

2. ELECTION OF CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR  

RESOLVED that Councillor Kaur be elected as Chair and Councillor McEwing as 
Vice-Chair for the Municipal Year 2012/2013. 

3. WELFARE REFORMS INQUIRY MEETING 1: KEY NATIONAL AND LOCAL 
CHANGES  

The Panel considered the report of the Senior Manager, Customer and Business 
Improvement, which examined the impacts of the Welfare Reforms and outlined 
the national and local changes.  

Cllr Letts, Cabinet Member for Resources was in attendance and outlined the key 
issues that the Panel needed to be aware of.  They were:- 

• Council Tax Benefit – there would be a reduction in the capital grant given 
to Councils as people of working age would no longer be entitled to 100% 
benefit.  They would be expected to pay at least 25%.  The impact on the 
Authority would be reduced income if people do not pay. 

• Housing Benefit and Under- Occupancy – rules would be introduced that 
would mean Housing Benefit would be reduced if the property lived in was 
under occupied.  Rules on the under-occupancy were not as simple as just 
having a spare room. This change will come in April 2013 and affects 
those in the social rented sector. 

• Universal Credit will change a very complex scheme.  Recipients of 
benefits would only receive one payment, which would include all of the 
elements that they were entitled to.  This would be paid monthly in arrears.  
It would not be possible for housing benefits to be paid direct to landlords.  
For Council tenants, Housing Benefit would no longer be able transferred 
direct within the Council. 

• The age of being able to claim for Local Housing Allowance (private 
rented) as a single person, for more than a room within a HMO has been 
raised from 25 years to 35 years. 

• The Social Fund will be abolished from April 2013.  Local authorities will 
receive funding for two years to develop local provision. 

Agenda Item 6



- 2 - 

It was agreed that members of the Panel would be provided with more details 
relating to the rules regarding under-occupancy and how many Housing Benefit 
claimants would be affected. 

The importance of ensuring that people were made aware of the changes was 
discussed.  It was noted that Gateway to a Better Future, a Southampton 
Connect project led by Job Centre Plus, had been raising awareness and that 
more would be done in the winter.  It was reported that other ways to publicise the 
changes was being looked at.   

Concerns were raised about the impact on disabled people, which were of 
working age that would be affected under the proposed scheme to replace 
Council Tax Benefit In April 2013.  The Panel asked to be made aware of any 
legal challenges against this and whether it was contrary to the Disability 
Discrimination Act. 

The Panel then received a presentation from Bernadette Hagen from Jobcentre 
Plus.  She stated that there would be 16 changes to the national welfare benefits. 

The hope was that the changes would mean that the entitlement to benefits would 
be easier to understand, which would prevent fraud and errors.  It would also 
support those people wanting to take up part time or temporary work but in the 
past were too concerned about their loss of benefit. 

A major concern was the payment being monthly in arrears.  As currently many 
benefits were paid fortnightly.  People would then be expected to manage their 
finances and pay all the necessary bills, such as their rent.  This aim of this is to 
mirror the job market and therefore prepare claimants for employment.  Although 
there was concern that many of the people receiving benefits were not able to 
manage in this way.  

It was noted that the families within Southampton who were receiving more than 
the benefit cap limit, that was being introduced, were already being engaged in 
discussions. 

It was agreed that the statistics relating to benefit claimants in Southampton 
would be provided to Panel members. 

The need to support people into employment was discussed, particularly young 
people with disabilities coming out of education.  Many of the jobs available were 
not in the areas of work that people were seeking; such as care workers.  It was 
noted that a lot of joint work was undertaken within the City to support the young 
people, by City Limits, Wheatsheaf Trust and Barnado’s.  The team also work 
closely with City College. 

Paul Medland, Council Tax Benefits Project Manager then presented the main 
changes relating to Council Tax Benefits and the consultation that was taking 
place concerning the scheme that would be introduced in Southampton.  (A copy 
of the presentation attached to these minutes).  



- 3 - 

Panel members discussed the possibility of there being some form of appeals 
system for residents.  It was agreed that any possible system would probably be 
complex and costly, however it should still be considered and advice sought to 
check if it would be feasible to operate a process to support those who would find 
it difficult to pay. 

The consultation of the Council’s proposed scheme would end on the 16th

December, ready for a report to be submitted to full Council in January.  It was 
stated that the Panel would be able to make comments to feed into this process. 

Denise Edghill, Senior Manager Skills and Economy and Sara Crawford 
presented the changes to the Social Fund and its transition to local provision.   
(A copy of the handout attached to these minutes).  They would be looking for 
recommendations from the Panel, which have to be approved by Cabinet, on how 
the fund was administered and used. 

It was stated that funding would only be guaranteed for 2 years. 

Examples of different schemes were discussed.  Including food banks, 
particularly, one scheme that would provide fresh foods and waste food from 
supermarkets, which they currently pay to dispose of. 



This page is intentionally left blank



C
o

u
n

c
il
 T

a
x
 S

u
p

p
o

rt

T
h
e
 r

e
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

C
o

u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 B

e
n

e
fi
t

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



B
a

c
k

g
ro

u
n

d

•
C

o
u

n
c
il 

T
a

x
 B

e
n

e
fi
t 

(C
T

B
) 

is
 e

n
d

in
g

 f
ro

m
 A

p
ri

l 
2

0
1

3
.

•
R

e
p

la
c
e

d
 b

y
 L

o
c
a

l 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

T
a

x
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 (

C
T

S
).

•
P

a
rt

 o
f 

G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t’
s
 “

lo
c
a

lis
m

 a
g

e
n

d
a

”.

•
P

ri
m

a
ry

 l
e

g
is

la
ti
o

n
 s

ti
ll 

n
o

t 
p

a
s
s
e

d
 –

e
x
p

e
c
te

d
 e

n
d

-O
c
to

b
e

r.

•
S

e
c
o

n
d

a
ry

 l
e

g
is

la
ti
o

n
 e

x
p

e
c
te

d
 m

id
-N

o
v
e

m
b

e
r.

•
F

o
r 

p
e

o
p

le
 o

f 
p

e
n

s
io

n
a

b
le

 a
g

e
 t

h
e

re
 i
s
 n

o
 r

e
a

l 
c
h

a
n

g
e

�
th

e
 r

e
g

u
la

ti
o

n
s
 p

re
s
c
ri

b
e

 t
h

e
 “

lo
c
a

l”
s
c
h

e
m

e
 w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 

m
u

c
h

 t
h

e
 s

a
m

e
 a

s
 C

T
B

.



B
a

c
k

g
ro

u
n

d

•
F

o
r 

p
e

o
p

le
 o

f 
w

o
rk

in
g

 a
g

e
 e

a
c
h

 c
o

u
n

c
il 

la
rg

e
ly

 s
e

ts
 t

h
e

ir
 

o
w

n
 s

c
h

e
m

e
 (

s
o

m
e

 e
le

m
e

n
ts

 a
re

 p
re

s
c
ri

b
e

d
 (

e
.g

 p
e

o
p

le
 

fr
o

m
 a

b
ro

a
d

))
.

•
G

u
id

a
n

c
e

 g
iv

e
n

: 
L

o
c
a

l 
a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s
 s

h
o

u
ld

 e
n

s
u

re
 t

h
a

t 
lo

c
a

l 

s
c
h

e
m

e
s
 l
if
t 

th
e

 p
o

o
re

s
t 

o
ff

 b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 a
n

d
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 t

h
e

m
 i
n

to
 

w
o

rk
. 

D
e

liv
e

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

 p
o

s
it
iv

e
 i
n

c
e

n
ti
v
e

s
 t

o
 w

o
rk

 t
h

a
t 

w
ill

 

re
d

u
c
e

 p
o

v
e

rt
y
 a

n
d

 r
e

lia
n

c
e

 o
n

 c
o

u
n

c
il 

ta
x
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

lo
n

g
 t

e
rm

.”

•
L

o
c
a

l 
a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e

s
 h

a
v
e

 a
ls

o
 b

e
e

n
 r

e
m

in
d

e
d

 o
f 

th
e

ir
 d

u
ti
e

s
 

u
n

d
e

r:
 t

h
e

 E
q

u
a

lit
y
 A

c
t 

2
0

1
0

; 
th

e
 C

h
ild

 P
o

v
e

rt
y
 A

c
t 

2
0

1
0

; 

th
e

 A
rm

e
d

 F
o

rc
e

s
 c

o
v
e

n
a

n
t 

a
n

d
 t

h
e

 H
o

u
s
in

g
 A

c
t 

1
9

9
6



F
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
c

o
n

s
e

q
u

e
n

c
e

s
 -

S
C

C

•
C

T
B

 i
s
 f

u
lly

 f
u

n
d

e
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
s
u

b
s
id

y
.

•
F

o
r 

C
T

S
 t

h
e

 G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
w

ill
 g

iv
e

 a
 g

ra
n

t 
e

q
u

iv
a

le
n

t 
to

 

9
0

%
 o

f 
p

ro
je

c
te

d
 C

T
B

 e
x
p

e
n

d
it
u

re
.

•
T

h
is

 i
s
 a

 r
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
a

b
o

u
t 

£
1

.9
 m

ill
io

n
 i
n

 S
o

u
th

a
m

p
to

n
.

•
B

u
t 

–
a

s
 p

e
n

s
io

n
e

rs
 a

re
 p

ro
te

c
te

d
 a

ll 
th

e
 i
m

p
a

c
t 

is
 o

n
 

p
e

o
p

le
 o

f 
w

o
rk

in
g

 a
g

e
.

•
A

n
d

 –
g

ra
n

t 
ta

k
e

s
 n

o
 a

c
c
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
a

n
y
 c

o
u

n
c
il 

ta
x
 i
n

c
re

a
s
e

, 

in
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 t
a

k
e

-u
p

 o
r 

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 c
o

lle
c
ti
o

n
 r

a
te

.

•
T

ru
e

 i
m

p
a

c
t 

in
 S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

 i
s
 a

b
o

u
t 

£
2

.5
 m

ill
io

n
 (

a
lt
h

o
u

g
h

 
fi
n

a
l 
g

ra
n

t 
fi
g

u
re

s
 w

o
n

’t
 b

e
 k

n
o

w
n

 u
n

ti
l 
D

e
c
e

m
b

e
r)



D
e

s
ig

n
in

g
 a

 s
c

h
e

m
e

 f
o

r 
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

•
T

h
e

 c
o

u
n

c
il’

s
 f

in
a

n
c
ia

l 
p
o

s
it
io

n
 m

e
a

n
s
 w

e
 c

a
n

’t
 m

a
k
e

 u
p

 

th
e

 £
2

.5
 m

ill
io

n
 l
o

s
s
 w

it
h
o

u
t 

c
u

tt
in

g
 o

th
e

r 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 f

u
rt

h
e

r.

•
S

o
 w

e
 n

e
e

d
e

d
 t

o
 f

in
d

 a
 s

c
h

e
m

e
 t

h
a

t 
re

d
u

c
e

s
 t

h
e

 b
e

n
e

fi
t 

p
a

id
 t

o
 w

o
rk

in
g

 a
g

e
 p

e
o

p
le

 b
y
 t

h
is

 a
m

o
u

n
t.

•
T

h
is

 e
q

u
a

te
s
 t

o
 a

 2
5

%
 r

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 b
e

n
e

fi
t 

p
a

id
 t

o
 p

e
o

p
le

 o
f 

w
o

rk
in

g
 a

g
e

.

•
W

e
 a

re
 l
im

it
e

d
 i
n

 w
h

a
t 

c
a

n
 b

e
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
, 

b
o

th
 b

y
 t

im
e

 a
n

d
 

b
y
 c

a
p

a
b

ili
ti
e

s
 o

f 
o

u
r 

c
o

m
p

u
te

r 
s
y
s
te

m
.



D
e

s
ig

n
in

g
 a

 s
c

h
e

m
e

 f
o

r 
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

T
h

e
 p

ro
c

e
s

s

•
M

o
d

e
l 
o

p
ti
o

n
s
 M

a
y
/J

u
n

e

•
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
B

o
a

rd
 o

f 
D

ir
e

c
to

rs
 –

J
u

ly
 

•
C

a
b

in
e

t 
M

e
m

b
e

r 
B

ri
e

fi
n

g
 -

J
u

n
e

•
C

a
b

in
e

t 
–

a
g

re
e

 d
ra

ft
 s

c
h

e
m

e
 -

A
u

g
u

s
t

•
C

o
n

s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 w

it
h

 M
a

jo
r 

P
re

c
e

p
to

rs
 -

A
u

g
u

s
t

•
P

u
b

lic
 c

o
n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
 –

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

o
 1

6
th

D
e

c
e

m
b

e
r

•
F

u
ll 

C
o

u
n

c
il 

d
e

c
is

io
n

 –
1
6

th
J
a

n
u

a
ry

•
A

n
n

u
a

l 
b

ill
in

g
 -

F
e

b
ru

a
ry

•
Im

p
le

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 -

A
p

ri
l



D
e

s
ig

n
in

g
 a

 s
c

h
e

m
e

 f
o

r 
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

O
p

ti
o

n
s

 c
o

n
s

id
e

re
d

•
P

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 t

o
p

 s
lic

e
 –

i.
e

. 
re

d
u

c
e

 e
v
e

ry
o

n
e

’s
 b

e
n

e
fi
t 

b
y
 

s
a

m
e

 p
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

.

•
L

ia
b

ili
ty

 t
o

p
 s

lic
e

 –
re

d
u

c
e

 C
T

a
x
 u

s
e

d
 b

y
 a

 p
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

.

•
R

e
s
tr

ic
ti
n

g
 t

h
e

 c
o

u
n

c
il 

ta
x
 b

a
n

d
.

•
C

h
a

n
g

e
 t

h
e

 t
a

p
e

r.

•
In

tr
o

d
u

c
e

 a
 m

in
im

u
m

 b
e

n
e

fi
t 

(d
o

n
’t
 p

a
y
 l
e

s
s
 t

h
a

n
 (

s
a

y
) 

£
3

).

•
C

h
a

n
g

e
 c

a
p

it
a

l 
a

llo
w

a
n

c
e

s
.

•
C

h
a

n
g

e
 i
n

c
o

m
e

 d
is

re
g

a
rd

s
.

•
S

to
p

 s
e

c
o

n
d

 a
d

u
lt
 r

e
b

a
te

.

•
In

c
re

a
s
e

 n
o

n
-d

e
p

e
n

d
a

n
t 

d
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
s
.



D
e

s
ig

n
in

g
 a

 s
c

h
e

m
e

 f
o

r 
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

T
h

e
 d

ra
ft

 s
c

h
e

m
e

•
C

a
b

in
e

t 
a

g
re

e
d

 t
o

 g
o

 f
o

r 
a

 2
5

%
 t

o
p

 s
lic

e

�
i.
e

 c
a

lc
u

la
te

 t
h

e
 b

e
n

e
fi
t 

a
s
 n

o
w

 b
u

t 
th

e
n

 r
e

d
u

c
e

 b
y
 a

 

q
u

a
rt

e
r.

•
B

u
t 

p
ro

te
c
t 

w
a

r 
p

e
n

s
io

n
e

rs
 –

to
 c

o
m

p
ly

 w
it
h

 A
rm

e
d

 F
o

rc
e

s
 

C
o

v
e

n
a

n
t.

•
K

e
e

p
s
 a

ll 
o

f 
th

e
 f

e
a

tu
re

s
 o

f 
th

e
 c

u
rr

e
n

t 
s
c
h

e
m

e
, 

s
u

c
h

 a
s
 

p
re

m
iu

m
s
, 

n
o

n
-d

e
p

e
n

d
a

n
t 

d
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
s
 a

n
d

 d
is

re
g

a
rd

s
.

�
S

o
 t

a
k
e

s
 a

c
c
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
n

e
e

d
s
 o

f 
v
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 g

ro
u

p
s
.

•
W

o
rk

 i
n

c
e

n
ti
v
e

s
 i
m

p
ro

v
e

d

�
E

ff
e

c
t 

o
f 

th
e

 t
a

p
e

r 
re

d
u

c
e

d
 t

o
 1

5
%



D
e

s
ig

n
in

g
 a

 s
c

h
e

m
e

 f
o

r 
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

C
o

n
s

u
lt

a
ti

o
n

•
W

ri
tt

e
n

 t
o

 a
ll 

C
T

B
 r

e
c
ip

ie
n

ts
 a

n
d

 s
e

n
t 

a
 l
e

a
fl
e

t.

•
In

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 o

n
lin

e
 t

o
g

e
th

e
r 

w
it
h

 a
 s

u
rv

e
y
 f

o
rm

.

•
L

e
a

fl
e

t 
in

 C
o

u
n

c
il 

o
ff

ic
e
s
.

•
M

e
s
s
a

g
e

 o
n

 c
a

ll 
c
e

n
tr

e
.

•
W

e
 w

o
u

ld
 l
ik

e
 t

o
 k

n
o

w
:

�
Is

 w
h

a
t 

w
e

 a
re

 p
ro

p
o

s
in

g
 a

s
 f

a
ir

 a
s
 i
t 

c
a

n
 b

e
?

�
A

re
 t

h
e

re
 a

n
y
 u

n
fo

re
s
e

e
n

 c
o

n
s
e

q
u

e
n

c
e

s
?

�
A

re
 w

e
 d

is
p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

a
te

ly
 a

ff
e

c
ti
n

g
 p

a
rt

ic
u

la
r 

g
ro

u
p

s
?

�
A

re
 t

h
e

re
 b

e
tt

e
r 

a
lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

s
?



T
ra

n
s

it
io

n
a

l 
G

ra
n

t

A
n

n
o

u
n

c
e

d
 l
a

s
t 

w
e

e
k

•
£

1
0

0
 m

ill
io

n
 f

o
r 

c
o

u
n

c
ils

 w
h

o
s
e

 s
c
h

e
m

e
:

�
R

e
s
tr

ic
ts

 a
n

y
 c

u
t 

fo
r 

p
e

o
p

le
 o

n
 f

u
ll 

b
e

n
e

fi
t 

to
 8

.5
%

�
L

im
it
s
 t

h
e

 t
a

p
e

r 
to

 2
5

%
 o

r 
le

s
s

�
A

v
o

id
s
 a

 s
h

a
rp

 r
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 i
n

 b
e

n
e

fi
t 

fo
r 

th
o

s
e

 e
n

te
ri

n
g

 

w
o

rk
.

•
O

u
r 

s
h

a
re

 i
s
 £

3
7

9
,0

0
0

, 
b

u
t 

a
c
c
e

p
ti
n

g
 i
t 

m
e

a
n

s
 w

e
 c

o
u

ld
 

o
n

ly
 s

a
v
e

 u
p

 t
o

 £
1

.3
 m

ill
io

n
 o

f 
b

e
n

e
fi
t 

c
o

s
t.

•
R

e
s
tr

ic
ti
o

n
s
 m

e
a

n
 i
t 

is
 e

s
s
e

n
ti
a

lly
 a

 d
e

fi
n

e
d

 s
c
h

e
m

e
 w

it
h

 

lit
tl
e

 o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it
y
 f

o
r 

lo
c
a

lis
m



R
is

k
s

G
e

n
e

ra
l

•
L

a
te

 c
h

a
n

g
e

•
S

h
o

rt
 t

im
e

s
c
a

le

•
M

o
d

e
lli

n
g

 i
n

c
o

rr
e

c
t

•
C

h
a

lle
n

g
e

 (
to

 c
o

n
s
u

lt
a

ti
o

n
, 

e
q

u
a

lit
ie

s
 i
m

p
a

c
t 

o
r 

d
ra

ft
in

g
)

F
in

a
n

c
ia

l

•
C

la
im

a
n

t 
n

u
m

b
e

rs

•
C

o
lle

c
ti
o

n
 r

a
te

•
A

m
o

u
n

t 
o

f 
g

ra
n

t



Im
p

a
c

t 
o

n
 c

la
im

a
n

ts

•
A

v
e

ra
g

e
 l
o

s
s
 o

f 
b

e
n

e
fi
t 

£
1

9
1

 a
 y

e
a

r.

•
M

a
n

y
 w

ill
 b

e
 p

a
y
in

g
 f

o
r 

th
e

 f
ir

s
t 

ti
m

e
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 f
in

d
 i
t 

h
a

rd
 t

o
 

a
ff

o
rd

 t
h

is
.

•
C

o
u

n
c
il 

T
a

x
 c

o
lle

c
ti
o

n
 w

ill
 f

o
llo

w
 t

h
e

 s
ta

n
d

a
rd

 (
s
ta

tu
to

ry
) 

p
ro

c
e

s
s
.

•
N

o
n

-p
a

y
m

e
n

t 
c
o

u
ld

 r
e

s
u

lt
 i
n

 a
 s

u
m

m
o

n
s
, 

c
h

a
rg

e
s
 a

d
d

e
d

 t
o

 
th

e
 b

ill
, 

a
tt

a
c
h

m
e

n
t 

o
f 

b
e

n
e

fi
t,

 b
a

ili
ff
s
, 

e
tc

.



Social Fund:  An overview of the changes: 

• The Welfare Reform Act (2012) abolishes the discretionary elements 
of the Social Fund. From April 2013, Crisis Loans and Community 
Care Grants will no longer be available.   

• In future, the Government will be signposting local residents who need 
emergency financial assistance to local authorities – for Local Welfare 
Assistance. 

Current Local Use: 
Crisis Loans:  Provide financial support to meet immediate short-term need in 
an emergency or as a consequence of a disaster: for example, providing daily 
living expenses, rent in advance, board and lodgings, pre-paid meter fuel 
debts, and furniture and clothing in a disaster.  

Community Care Grants: Provide support for vulnerable people to return to, or 
remain in the community, or to ease exceptional pressures on families. 

Southampton Statistics: 
CCG Applications Number of Awards Total Spend
2009/10 2040 960 £343,900 

2010/11 2120 1020 £349,100 
2011/12 1820 820 £333,800 
Crisis Loans Applications Number of Awards Total Spend
2009/10 9300 6990 £366,300 
2010/11 6760 5420 £297,600 
2011/12 5600 4430 £227,500 

Funding transfer details: Funding for Social Fund ‘successor’ schemes will 
be provided to local authorities (at least until 2014/15).  Southampton will 
receive around £650k each year – as an un-ringfenced grant  - the final figure 
will be based on discretionary Social Fund spend in Southampton area for the 
2012 – 2013 year. 

Potential Impacts: The cumulative impacts are difficult to predict and need to 
link with the wider agenda of welfare reforms but some of the direct impacts of 
the changes to Social Fund may include; more households with no 
electricity/food/furniture, increased pressure on Adult/Children’s Social Care 
and homelessness services, increased demands for support from other 
discretionary pots of money, and not achieving move on from expensive 
residential/supported accommodation. 

Options: It will be important to develop a holistic and sustainable way 
forward, bearing in mind the potential impacts of Welfare Reforms and 
reduction in public services.  A mixed model would provide a flexible and 
sustainable approach: 

• investing in building local anti-poverty capacity 

• aligning funding within key services (i.e Homelessness/ benefit 
Services)  

• commissioning elements to local/national providers. 

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



1

DECISION-MAKER:  SCRUTINY PANEL A 

SUBJECT: WELFARE REFORMS INQUIRY  

MEETING 2: SETTING THE SCENE 

DATE OF DECISION: 22 NOVEMBER 2012 

REPORT OF: SENIOR MANAGER, CUSTOMER AND BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report provides details for the second meeting of the Scrutiny Panel A’s Welfare 
Reforms Inquiry.  

There will be two presentations, followed by questions from the Panel.  
The first presentation on the policy drivers for change will be given by the Director, 
Policy in Practice and Lead on Welfare, Employment and Public Spending for the 
Centre for Social Justice.  
The second presentation sets the scene locally using a range of poverty and 
deprivation data. This will be given by the Directorate Business Manager, 
Environment and Economy.    
The chair of the panel will also provide an update on actions from the last meeting.   

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) The Panel is recommended to consider the information provided by 
these presentations and use this, alongside the appendices, as 
evidence in the inquiry. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To enable the Panel to analyse the evidence in order to formulate findings 
and recommendations at the end of the inquiry process.  

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

2. The second meeting of the Inquiry will set the scene for the Welfare Reforms 
by providing an overview of the national policy drivers for change and the 
local socio-economic context in which the reforms will be implemented. 

3. The first presentation to the Panel will be given by the Director, Policy in 
Practice and Lead on Welfare, Employment and Public Spending for the 
Centre for Social Justice (CSJ).  

4. The presentation will outline: 
Changes to local welfare support and the local role including 
o Council Tax Support 
o Housing changes  
o Vulnerable people 
The national policy drivers in relation to: 
o The need for reform  
o The challenge for Southampton  
o The local role in tackling these challenges 

Agenda Item 7



2

5. Recent press releases from the CSJ relating to the Welfare Reforms debate 
on matters such as poverty and income, child poverty, child benefit and 
making work pay are attached at Appendix 1 to 4. 
A policy paper by the Centre for Social Justice, Rethinking Child Poverty, is 
attached at Appendix 5. 

6. The Director has written extensively on welfare policy, Government spending 
and employment.  His publications include ‘Outcome-based Government’, a 
guide to maximising returns from public spending and ‘Creating Opportunity, 
Rewarding Ambition’, an analysis of entry level employment, with 
recommendations to improve employment opportunities for long term job 
seekers.  He led the work on the implementation of Universal Credit prior to 
the general election. 
He was a consultant at KPMG prior to taking strategy-focused roles at a 
venture capital backed start-up and leading law firm before conducting 
independent research on welfare policy that led to his role at the CSJ. He 
has also worked on voluntary initiatives in the UK, Japan and East Africa. 

7. The second presentation will be given by the Directorate Business Manager 
Environment and Economy.  It will provide an overview of local socio-
economic context in which the reforms will be implemented. 

8. The presentation will consider local issues in relation to the impacts of the 
Welfare Reforms, using the latest statistics and information, including: 

• Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2010 

• Mosaic groups in Southampton 

• Welfare benefit data 

9. A summary of the emerging issues for Southampton from the IMD2010 is 
provided in Appendix 6. 

10. Consultation on the proposals for the Local Council Tax Scheme closes on 
the 16th December.  An interim report on the feedback received to date will 
be submitted at the meeting.  

11. The respondents were asked if they have any issues, concerns or comments 
about the general changes to Welfare Reforms.  Appendix 7 provides a 
summary of the feedback for this question received up to 30th October. 

12. An update on actions from the first meeting will be given by the chair.   The 
schedule of actions from Inquiry meetings is attached in Appendix 8. 

13. Evidence circulated within this report or to be tabled at the meeting include: 

• Labour market statistics 

• Interim feedback on the Local Council Tax Scheme consultation 

• Proposals for the development of discretionary support 

• Draft Scrutiny Panel A Interim response and recommendations to the 
Local Council Tax Scheme 

14. Finally, recent publications that may be of interest to the Panel are submitted 
as evidence to Scrutiny Panel A’s Welfare Reforms Inquiry. 
Appendix 9: Between a Rock and a Hard Place: Early Impacts of the Welfare 
Reforms on London.  November 2012, Child Poverty Action Group 
Appendix 10:  Executive Summary, Managing the impact of Housing Benefit 
reform, National Audit Office.  A copy of the full report can be found at  
http://www.nao.org.uk/publications/1213/housing_benefit_reform.aspx  



3

15. The Panel is invited to have a discussion on the changes to the national and 
local Welfare Reforms and their potential impact in the city to formulate their 
findings and develop a final report and recommendations.   

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

16. None 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue

17. Not applicable 

Property/Other

18. Not applicable 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory Power to undertake the proposals in the report:  

19. The duty to undertake overview and scrutiny is set out in Section 21 of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

Other Legal Implications:

20. None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

21. None 

  

AUTHOR: Name: Dorota Goble Tel: 023 8083 3317 

E-mail:      dorota.goble@southampton.gov.uk 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1 – 4. Recent press releases from the CSJ relating to the Welfare Reforms debate 

5. A policy paper by the Centre for Social Justice, Rethinking Child Poverty

6. A summary of the emerging issues for Southampton from the IMD2010 

7. A summary of feedback from Local Council Tax Scheme on general concerns 
around the Welfare Reforms (Question 20) 

8. Schedule of actions from previous Inquiry meeting 

9. Between a Rock and a Hard Place: Early Impacts of the Welfare Reforms on 
London.  November 2012, Child Poverty Action Group 

10. Executive Summary, Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform, 
National Audit Office.   



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

11 September 2012 

Centre for Social Justice responds to debate on welfare reform 
 
Christian Guy, Managing Director at the Centre for Social Justice (CSJ)
welfare system is broken and millions of people are languishing on the benefits scrapheap as 
a result. 
 
 If we are serious about changing  lives and tackling poverty, the need for these 
radical changes could not be greater. Overhauling a system of this magnitude was never 
going to be easy, but this must not detract from the fact change is essential  doing nothing 

 
 

Universal Credit is designed to tackle entrenched unemployment and 
dependency by giving people the tools to get into work. It will also ensure people keep 
more of their earnings from work. 
 

 this will benefit 
both claimants and taxpayers.  
 
The current tax credit set-up is in a mess with arbitrary rules of 16, 24 and 30 hours. 

Claimants can lose 90p of every extra £1 they earn as their benefits are tapered off.  
 

Although it could go further, 
this will represent  
 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
10th September 2012 

 
Reforms will ensure work pays 

 
Christian Guy, Managing Director at the Centre for Social Justice, today said the 
introduction of Universal Credit will tackle "decades of welfare failure". 
 

broken and the need for radical reform could not 
be clearer. The current system acts as one of the biggest barriers into work and has left 
millions of people wasting their talents on the benefits scrapheap. 
 

iversal Credit is important, many of 
the concerns raised by this collation of responses are out of date or already being 
addressed by ministers. 
 
"Nothing should detract from the fact welfare reform and the broad proposals set out 
are essential if we are serious about changing lives. The launch of Universal Credit will 
ensure that work pays and that people in employment keep more of their money. It will 
drive right to the heart of decades of welfare failure. 
 

nths to work through precisely some 
of the legitimate implementation points raised - we have all the evidence we need to get 

 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5th September 2012 

 
Poverty about more than income 

  

Children: 
  

highlight the difficulties facing many families across the UK.  Many are experiencing 
significant financial hardship and need help.  Child poverty is a tragic injustice and 
tackling it should be an urgent political priority. 
  

 fighting child poverty.  Income matters, 
but having spent years working with families in the poorest parts of the country, the CSJ 
has seen that a lack of money can often be symptomatic of wider social problems and 
inadequate support.    
  

finition of child poverty is arbitrary, narrow and has often derailed 
efforts to give children the help they need. 
  

-   poverty line  but in most cases this has 
done little to give them the tools to escape the poverty trap. 
  

that supports people into these opportunities  whether that be flexible working hours 
 

  

When we ask these inspiring organisations we are always told that poverty is not just 
about money  it is about family breakdown, poor educational attainment, addiction, 

 

 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
CHILD BENEFIT REFORM: 

DEALING WITH THE DEFICITS TO PUT STABLE FAMILIES FIRST 
 

March 2012 
 

 
This short paper supports the principle of ending Child Benefit payments to wealthier 
families, but it criticises the details of the muddled and faulty reform 
proposal.  As the current proposal stands, the Government would undermine stable 
families by hitting couple formation and marriage, and thereby also jeopardising its own 
positive commitment about shared parenting.  We offer clearer and more credible 
options for targeting Child Benefit on lower-earning households, including the 
replacement of universal Child Benefit with a new Child Benefit element of Child Tax 
Credit. 
 

 
 
CHILD BENEFIT REFORM: AN END TO UNIVERSAL PAYMENTS 
 
Universal Child Benefit payments are coming to an end.  As part of its deficit reduction programme, 
in 2013 the Government will cease paying the benefit to families with one higher rate taxpayer, 
which will equate to households in which an individual(s) earns more than £42,735 a year.  
According to the latest data, 1.5 million families (of a total of 17.9 million families) will lose their 
Child Benefit as a result of the changes and £2.4 billion of public expenditure savings will be realised, 
reducing the annual Child Benefit bill of £12 billion.i      
 
Table 1: Breakdown of impact of Child Benefit reforms by family size ii 
 

 
Family size 

 
Number of families affected 

 
Annual financial loss per 

family 

 
One-child family 

 
600,000 

 
£1,056 

 
Two-child family 

 
700,000 

 
£1,752 

 
Three or more children 

 
200,000 

 
£2,449 

 
The Centre for Social Justice (CSJ) has long argued that regardless of national economic conditions, 
some benefits are unnecessarily paid on a universal basis.  We have also warned against a creeping 
culture of entitlement and dependency which the benefit system can cultivate.  Most recently the CSJ 
challenged the political fear of reforming such benefits like Winter Fuel Payments and bus passes for 
older people, which could be targeted much more effectively for those who need such direct 
financial support.iii    
 
In view of our belief in the need to re-think universal entitlement to certain benefits, we believe that 
the Government is right in principle to stop paying Child Benefit to higher earning families  many of 
whom welcome but do not depend on its financial support.  In a healthy economic climate there 
would be a strong case for reform , and the 
need to deal with the deficit, such a move is realistic and necessary.   
 
 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 4



2 
 

A FLAWED GOVERNMENT PROPOSAL 
 
Although the CSJ supports the principle of ending the payment of Child Benefit to wealthier families, 
there are several fundamental flaws in the approach the Government has outlined to achieve this 
aim.  These include the problem that a number of wealthier families will retain their child benefit 
while others on much lower incomes will lose it, and within this, there is a risk of further erosion of 
the stable foundation two-parent families provide within society. And whilst the CSJ engages less 
with policy debates about issues affecting middle- or high-income families, we are doing so on the 
basis of this risk and the inherent injustice of the proposal. 
 
A new penalty for marriage, couple formation and fathers  
It is well established that the withdrawal mechanism proposed by the Coalition to enact its reform 
of Child Benefit is unfair.  Given that the new system will be based on individual income and 
taxation, rather than household income, it will create a sharp cliff edge by removing Child Benefit 
from couples with a single earner income of £43,000 per year (just above the higher rate tax 
threshold) but retain it for dual earner couples where two individuals earn £42,000 each (just below 
the higher rate tax threshold), or £84,000 per year.   
 
Beyond the obvious and inherent unfairness of this, such an unthinking system will further 
undermine stable family formation:   
 

 It penalises a decision to get married: in visibility terms married couples with at least 
one higher rate taxpayer will be unable to avoid losing their child benefit, while those who 
are cohabiting will face a choice between being financially worse off if formally declaring their 
relationship (or marrying), or deciding to commit fraud by denying their relationship status.  
 

 There is a broader couple penalty: Flowing from the point made above, as there is far 
less clarity about when cohabitation begins, this measure discourages putting relationships 
on a more formal footing. There is often ambiguity about whether couples are cohabiting or 

itly forming a new household (as he will 
have to notify HMRC that the household is in receipt of child benefit). His significantly higher 
tax bill thereby penalises him for forming a co-residential relationship with a lone parent 
(usually a mother). As he 

iv because of the beneficial 
outcomes including greater stability for children who grow up living in two parent families.v 
It also flies in the face of evidence that demonstrates the impact of an existing couple penalty 
in the tax and benefit system, which renders lower-earning couples financially and materially 
better off if they choose to live separately rather than together.vi Furthermore, such a 
penalty encourages fraud: the Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) has found that 200,000 more 
lone parents claim tax credits than appear to exist in the UK.vii 

 
The cliff edge  
Another problem with the it will create a sharp cliff edge, over which 
many people will fear to tread.  It will clearly introduce a situation where families with one earner 
earning a little below the higher income tax threshold would actually be made worse off after a pay 
rise.  This also means that those who have only just crossed the higher rate tax threshold will be 
better off if they were paid less. 
 
Increasing complexity  

required to administer the means-testing of higher rate taxpayers.  This mechanism will inevitably 
insert another layer of complexity to an already mystifyingly complicated system.  This sits 
uncomfortably with its wider reforms to simplify the benefit and tax systems.   



3 
 

 
 
DEALING WITH THE DEFICITS 
 

fairly and thoughtfully.  The current reform package for Child Benefit fails to offer a credible and 
rational solution for public expenditure savings  it is full of its own deficits.  
 
A fairer system 
The CSJ suggests that the Government considers one of the following two options for its reform of 
Child Benefit, using the Child Tax Credit mechanism (and later Universal Credit) to gradually taper, 
what we recommend would be referred to as the Child Benefit element, away on the basis of joint 
income from better off households.  This would recognise the high regard the British public has for 
supporting children with a specific benefit, eliminate the cliff edge, end the unfairness for single 
earner households (including lone parents) and remove the couple penalty.  Crucially, it would also 
achieve equivalent or greater public expenditure savings depending on its implementation, which 
could then be reinvested in other support for families.  
 
Option one: 

 As the IFS has proposed, the simplest option for withdrawal is to taper Child Benefit 
immediately after Child Tax Credit, using the same taper rate (41 per cent).  This would 
affect more families than current proposals to use the tax system as a cut-off point, but it 
would save the government an additional £2.7 billion compared with the 
current proposal, keep support focused on lower income households and maintain the 
simplicity of the benefit system under Universal Credit.viii 

 
Option two: 

 Alternatively, the Government could use the Child Tax 
Credit mechanism, but withdraw what we refer to as the Child Benefit element of Child Tax 
Credit away at a higher income threshold.  For example beginning to taper the Child Benefit 
element at annual household incomes of £40,000 in order to end Child Benefit entitlement 
at approximately the higher rate tax threshold, could save an additional £1 billion..ix It should 
be noted, however, that this new taper would add another layer to the tax and benefit 
system if it were retained under Universal Credit. 
 

Both options, depending on the threshold adopted in option two, would deliver increased public 
expenditure savings which could be used to invest in additional support for families and children as 
highlighted above and below.  
 
 
CONCLUSION  
 
As it stands, the current proposal for reform of Child Benefit is faulty, even though the principle 
targeting it on lower-income families is bold and sensible.  The Government should move quickly to 
redesign its proposal  in order to present a mechanism which promotes family stability and 
progress, rather than weakens them as the present model would.  In using the Child Tax Credit 
system to distribute Child Benefit payments  with different options of flexibility and taper rates  
the flaws of the proposal will be redressed and additional public expenditure savings could be 
reinvested in alternative forms of support for families, such as a transferable tax for married couples 
with young children to send a signal about stability,x an expansion of effective early intervention 
programmesxi or improving the quality of childcare.  
 
 
 



4 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                
i See Institute for Fiscal Studies, Green Budget 2012, London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2012 and ONS, Families 
and Households in the UK 2001  2010, London: ONS, 2011 
ii Institute for Fiscal Studies, Green Budget 2012, London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2012 
iii Centre for Social Justice, Age of Opportunity, London: Centre for Social Justice, 2011 
iv HM Government, The Coalition: our programme for government, London: HM Government, 2010, p20 
v 
up by the time a child is 5, compared with 26 per cent of cohabitees 
vi Centre for Social Justice, Dynamic Benefits, London: Centre for Social Justice, 2009, Chapter Four 
vii Institute for Fiscal Studies, Poverty and Inequality in the UK: 2009, London: Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2009 
viii For example, withdrawal of Child Benefit would begin at earnings of £32,554 for a family with two children, 
and be fully withdrawn at earnings of £36,840.  See Institute for Fiscal Studies, Green Budget 2012, London: 
Institute for Fiscal Studies February 2012, pp227-231  
ix Based on CSJ calculations 
x See for example: Centre for Social Justice, It is time to back marriage, London: Centre for Social Justice, 2012 
xi See for example: Centre for Social Justice, Making Sense of Early Intervention, London: Centre for Social 
Justice, 2011 



Rethinking Child 
Poverty

A policy paper by the Centre for Social Justice

May 2012

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 5



Rethinking Child Poverty 1

C
SJ

1

Introduction 

This short paper argues that the current measure of child poverty is inadequate. It fails to 

acknowledge that poverty is about much more than a lack of income. The Centre for Social 

Justice (CSJ) is clear that in order to construct a measure of poverty that is both accurate 

and useful, it is vital that the main drivers of poverty – family breakdown, educational failure, 

economic dependency and worklessness, addiction and serious personal debt – are made 

the priority for measurement. A faulty conceptualisation of the nature of poverty has resulted 

in an overarching income inequality target which drives short-term, narrow and expensive 

policy responses. This paper outlines our serious concerns with this measure, most notably 

that the exclusive use of an arbitrary line to measure child poverty tells us almost nothing 

about the suffocating nature of child deprivation. It also fails to assess the opportunities a child 

has to break free from their present circumstances. We draw on a wide range of evidence 

and case studies from our Alliance in order to propose a new approach to measurement 

which focuses on these key drivers. The CSJ strongly believes that any strategy to tackle 

poverty should focus on the causes of deprivation, not the symptoms. We therefore urge the 

Government to adopt a measure of child poverty which promotes policies that transform 

lives, and not merely maintains people on marginally higher incomes. 

Poverty is not just about income

The Government says that poverty is not just about income; it is about a lack of opportunity, 

aspiration and stability.1 Yet its own measure of child poverty, which was inherited from the 

previous Government, fails to capture this. The narrow income-related targets set out in the 

Child Poverty Act incentivise the Government to throw ever-increasing sums of money at 

the problem. However, on the basis of overwhelming evidence from the UK’s most deprived 

communities, the CSJ is clear that poverty is a multifaceted phenomenon which cannot be 

eradicated without an acknowledgement of its key drivers: family breakdown, educational 

failure, economic dependency and worklessness, addiction and serious personal debt. These 

drivers diminish the future opportunities of a child and so must also be at the heart of any 

serious attempt to measure poverty. 

1 HM Government, A New Approach to Child Poverty: Tackling the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families’ Lives, London: HM 

Government, 2010

Income-related indicators

1.  Source of income

2.  Income vs. consumption

3.  Ability to save

Non-income-related measures

1.  Poor parenting

2.  Unstable family structures

3.  Workless households

4.  Poor educational attainment 

5.  Addiction or substance abuse in the household

6.  Severe personal debt in the household

7.  Poor mental health

8.  Local factors

9.  Well-being measure

A summary of proposed indicators 



 The Centre for Social Justice    2

C
SJ The failure of the current approach

The traditional approach to defining poverty, most notably articulated by Charles Booth 

and Seebohm Rowntree, has dominated poverty studies for over a century.2 More recently, 

the Labour Government under Tony Blair took steps to push the issue of poverty and its 

measurement up the political agenda by introducing, for the first time, a Child Poverty Act, 

which sets out a definition and means of measuring poverty in the UK. The Act comprises 

four income-related targets, which are summarised below. 

1. Relative low income (whether the incomes of the poorest families are keeping pace with 

the growth of incomes in the economy as a whole) – target is less than ten per cent

2. Combined low income and material deprivation (a wider measure of people’s living 

standards) – target is less than five per cent

3. Absolute low income (whether the poorest families are seeing their income rise in real 

terms) – target is less than five per cent

4. Persistent poverty (length of time in poverty) – target is to be set in regulations by 

2015.3

The first target is the most commonly referred to, stating that a child is considered to be in 

poverty if they live in a household with an income that is below 60 per cent of the median.4

The objective of this measure is to calculate the number of families who have an insufficient 

level of cash income to meet what is considered to be their needs relative to those of the 

country as a whole. 

On the basis of this measure, Figure one shows that 2.6 million children were judged to be 

in poverty in 2009/10. This equates to more than one in five children.  

However, it is clear that during Labour’s 13 years in office, there was only a six percentage 

point reduction in the number of children deemed to be in poverty, on the basis of this 

measure. This is despite astonishingly high levels of income redistribution. For instance, 

between 2004 and 2010, £150 billion was spent on Tax Credits as a means of marginally 

increasing the income of individuals.5 It is patently obvious that this approach has failed. 

We agree with Labour MP Frank Field that one consequence of the Act has been to 

‘straightjacket our understanding of poverty to one particular financial manifestation’.6 We 

have serious concerns about the way poverty is currently understood and measured by the 

Government. 

2 Frank Field, The report of the Independent Review on Poverty and Life Chances, London, HM Government, 2010

3 Department for Education, The Child Poverty Act [accessed via: http://www.education.gov.uk/childrenandyoungpeople/families/

childpoverty/a0066302/the-child-poverty-act (25.05.12)]  

4 Child Poverty Act 2010 

5 HM Government, A New Approach to Child Poverty: Tackling the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families’ Lives, London: HM 

Government, 2010 

6 Frank Field, The report of the Independent Review on Poverty and Life Chances, London, HM Government, 2010



Rethinking Child Poverty 3

C
SJ

Year % of children Number of children (millions)

1997/98 27 3.4

1998/99 27 3.4

1999/00 26 3.4

2000/01 23 3.1

2001/02 23 3.0

2002/03 23 2.9

2003/04 22 2.9

2004/05 21 2.7

2005/06 22 2.8

2006/07 22 2.9

2007/08 23 2.9

2008/09 22 2.8

2009/10 21 2.6

Problems with the current measure7

The first methodological flaw of the Government’s central measure of poverty is that it is 

defined in relative terms. The result of this is that the poor will always exist statistically, as it is 

inevitable that some in society will have less than others. However, simply having less money 

than others does not necessarily render an individual to be in poverty. The measure therefore 

confuses poverty with income inequality. The commitment to eradicating child poverty by 

2020 is thus almost impossible to achieve on the basis of a relative measure. 

What’s more, under this measure, a household can be moved into or out of poverty without 

any change in their circumstances. For example, in a recession, as median incomes fall, so does 

the poverty line. This means that many households who were previously in poverty are now 

out of poverty (above the new, lower poverty line). 

Similarly, and somewhat bizarrely, an increase in the size of state pensions will lift the median 

income and thereby push more children below this arbitrary poverty line.  

Measuring poverty in this way also fails to distinguish between those furthest away from the 

poverty line and those just below. As a result, the depth of poverty is not fully realised and 

improvements in living standards which raise children from far below the poverty line to just 

below are not captured. 

7 Department for Work and Pensions, Households Below Average Income (HBAI) 1994/95–2009/10, [accessed via: http://research.dwp.gov.

uk/asd/hbai/hbai2010/index.php?page=chapters (25.05.12)]  

Figure 1: Percentage and number of children who fall below the 60% of median 

income threshold7



 The Centre for Social Justice    4

C
SJ

 The Centre for Social Justice  4

However, our main concern is that the exclusive use of an arbitrary line to measure 

child poverty tells us almost nothing about how the disadvantaged live their lives. This 

spreadsheet-driven approach is relatively simple to calculate and provides figures which 

are convenient for politicians and the media to use. Yet we know from our own extensive 

research as well as the research of others that the key drivers of poverty are family 

breakdown, educational failure, economic dependency and worklessness, addiction and 

serious personal debt. It is these drivers which any serious attempt to tackle poverty must 

address, and so in turn any effort to accurately measure levels of poverty must assess the 

prevalence of these drivers. 

A faulty conceptualisation of the nature of poverty has led to the creation of an overarching 

income inequality target which drives short-term, narrow and expensive policy responses. 

As mentioned earlier, the previous Government attempted to meet this income target with 

astoundingly high levels of income redistribution, but has very little to show for it. Between 

2004 and 2010, £150 billion was spent on Tax Credits as a means of lifting individuals 

marginally above the arbitrarily defined poverty line.8 Despite this, child poverty levels have 

remained relatively high. This approach, aside from being totally misguided, is extremely 

expensive. The Institute for Fiscal Studies (IFS) estimates that reducing relative child poverty 

rates to 10 per cent in 2020 solely through the tax and benefit system would cost £19 billion.9

This is not a sustainable option given the current economic climate. 

Yet even if the economic conditions were conducive to high levels of government spending, 

the CSJ is clear that tackling poverty must be about transforming lives, not just maintaining 

people on marginally higher incomes. This binary distinction, whereby someone is deemed 

either to be in poverty or not, based on whether their income is either a few pounds 

below or above the poverty line, despite similar circumstances, is too simplistic. The incomes 

of many families will persistently fluctuate around this line, and measuring poverty in this 

way does not properly assess the opportunities a child has to break free from a cycle of 

deprivation. 

The previous Government’s obsession with raising families’ incomes as both the means 

and ends of tackling disadvantage has been at the expense of understanding what the root 

causes of people’s disadvantage actually are. For example, giving an addict an extra £10 

a week does not, in our view, lift them out of poverty – their situation remains broadly 

unchanged. Similarly, a few extra pounds, often termed the ‘poverty plus a pound’ approach, 

will make little difference to an individual who is highly indebted to a loan shark, or is an 

illiterate parent. The goal of any poverty strategy (and by extension its measurement) 

therefore cannot be simply to redistribute income. Rather it is only by tackling the root 

causes of an individual’s disadvantage that their life chances and opportunities can be 

transformed.

8 HM Government, A New Approach to Child Poverty: Tackling the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families’ Lives, London: HM 

Government, 2010 

9 Institute for Fiscal Studies press release, Cost of cutting child poverty rises as families fall further below poverty line, 18 February 2009



Rethinking Child Poverty 5

C
SJUnderstanding what drives poverty is key to its measurement

Despite the dominance of the income measure of poverty, there is an increasingly rich body 

of evidence which challenges the conceptual basis for the current measure of poverty and 

serves to refocus the debate.  

The CSJ’s Alliance of over 300 grassroots poverty-fighting charities and social enterprises 

were consulted in November 2010 as part of a submission to the Frank Field Review on 

Poverty and Life Chances.10 These organisations are working on the front line to change the 

lives of people living in every kind of social and financial disadvantage, and are invited to 

join the CSJ Alliance for their excellence, effectiveness and innovation. They represent a vast 

wealth of knowledge and insight from those who fight poverty on the ground on a daily basis. 

We continuously draw on this wisdom in order to inform all of our policy work. It ensures 

that our proposals are firmly rooted in what we are being told by those best placed to 

understand the challenges faced by those in our most disadvantaged communities. We believe 

that this approach sets us apart from other research organisations.

When asked what single aspect of early childhood has the greatest influence on children’s 

life chances, the top responses were love and affection in a committed family setting, good 

parenting and the home environment. Respondents were clear that fractured, unstable or 

unloving families – regardless of material wealth – have a serious impact on a child’s life 

chances, since such an environment can damage self-esteem, trust, confidence, and a child’s 

ability to form positive relationships later in life. 

On the issue of family earnings, many responded that while higher family income is beneficial to 

children and necessary to the point that it meets their essential needs, it is not the money that 

has the greatest influence on outcomes for the child. Rather, income is related to outcomes for 

children because of its relational and developmental repercussions. For example, a family is often 

better off because the parents are in work, which means they have higher aspirations, better 

self-esteem, and set a good example to their children. Financial stability and financial capability 

was cited as more important than the actual level of income. It was also widely observed that 

family stability and values have a greater impact on a child than material prosperity. 

Case studies: what real poverty looks like 

Our Alliance members tell us numerous stories about homes in which there is an acute poverty 

of family life. They tell us about 17 year olds who battle with the effects of their mother’s 

alcoholism of ten years, and about young people of 14 who are highly involved in alcohol, drugs, 

sexual activity, self-harm, anorexia and violence. One service told us the story of a six-year-old 

boy who had an asthma attack. After taking him home, they found that his parents were out at 

Bingo – his usual routine was to just wait till they returned at 10.30 in order to deal with the 

problem. Recently two of the girls that attend one club, aged three and eight, found their mother 

10 Centre for Social Justice, Summary of submissions from members of the Centre for Social Justice Alliance to The Independent Review of 

Poverty and Life Chances, 2010 [unpublished document] 



 The Centre for Social Justice    6

C
SJ

dead in her bed. An alcoholic, and only 35 years of age, she had bled to death after a routine 

dental procedure. These girls now live with their auntie on the estate. It is far from unusual to 

find households in which children come a long distant second to parents’ social lives, alcohol and 

drugs. This poverty of family life cannot be solved by the addition of a few pounds. These children 

lack the support and love they need to progress in life. We believe that this is real poverty.

The case studies below clearly illustrate how only focusing on a lack of income as an indicator 

of poverty is inadequate. It fails to accurately capture how individuals and families experience 

poverty in reality. A range of other factors which have a greater bearing on the life chances 

of a child are drawn attention to. All names have been changed. 

When Kids Company first visited the family home, we had to clean faecal matter, blood, urine and graffiti 

saying ‘I hate my life’ from the walls. The children had to be given new sheets to replace the soiled and 

sodden ones they slept on. The mother had severe learning difficulties and mental health issues and 

was unable to care for the family properly. Her 18-year-old daughter, who also suffered severe learning 

difficulties, had been raped and had no concept of personal hygiene or how to dress herself. The eldest 

son, 14, was so desperate for affection he stole money from his mother to buy two dogs, who were, like 

the children, also neglected. The 14-year-old and his bright, engaging 11-year-old brother kept themselves 

as clean and presentable as they could in the chaotic home. While they were helping the mother and 

daughter social services were unable to provide services for the boys. 

Kids Company

Kids Company provides practical, emotional and educational support to vulnerable inner-city children. Its 

services reach 17,000 children across London, including the most deprived and at risk whose parents are 

unable to care for them due to their own practical and emotional challenges. 

Kids Company

James has ADHD and gets involved in fights at school. He does not live with his father, and so does not 

have a positive male role model. He has aspirations to be a gangster.

James’ mother was brought up in 39 different foster homes (from birth until she was 16). She had an 

unsettled childhood and smoked crack for over three years. The school informed Chance UK that James’ 

mother once dropped him off at nursery and never picked him up again, as she had been arrested for 

importation. She did not see James during this time and James was adversely affected by this.

James soils himself from time to time and teachers believe this may be the result of his mother not being 

around during his early years. James’ mother’s perception of him is that he is a bad boy and she wants 

him to be the man of the house now that his father is not around.

Chance UK

The mission of Chance UK is to improve the lives of primary school children with behavioural difficulties who are 

at risk of developing anti-social or criminal behaviour in the future. It does this by providing tailored one-to-one 

mentoring with a carefully screened, trained and supervised volunteer mentor. It works in a solution-focused way, so 

that its mentors and staff focus on the child’s strengths and what they do well, rather than their negative behaviour.

Chance UK



Rethinking Child Poverty 7

C
SJ

The Frank Field Review itself makes clear that ‘something more fundamental than the 

scarcity of money is adversely dominating the lives of these children’.11 The Review finds 

family background, parental education, good parenting and the opportunities for learning and 

development in the early years as the key factors which ensure a child has the opportunity 

to succeed, even in the absence of money. In addition, a poll commissioned by the Review 

judged income to be only the third most important factor for early years development. The 

Review outlines a set of Life Chances Indicators, such as the home learning environment, 

positive parenting, maternal mental health, the mother’s age at the birth of her first child and 

the mother’s educational qualifications. These are intended to measure annual progress on a 

range of factors that are predictive of children’s future outcomes. 

A recent report by the University of York investigating child poverty on Peabody estates 

found that parents on the estates were more concerned about the life chances of their 

children than their material deprivation.12 In particular there were anxieties around high rates 

of crime and anti-social behaviour, a lack of options and employment for teenagers leaving 

school, and a lack of engaging activities for young people. There was also a sense that child 

poverty was less about a lack of income and more to do with a poverty of ambition. 

Demos commissioned original representative polling in order to gauge the attitude of 

the UK public towards poverty. The polling results revealed that more people disagreed 

(48 per cent) than agreed (30 per cent) that it is adequate to measure poverty solely by 

assessing household income.13

11 Frank Field, The report of the Independent Review on Poverty and Life Chances, London, HM Government, 2010

12 Peabody, Understanding and tackling child poverty on Peabody estates, London: Peabody, 2012

13 Demos, 3D Poverty, London: Demos, 2010  

Chris was referred for Place2Be counselling in Year Five due to concerns about his behaviour and conduct 

at school. Perceived as highly intelligent, he presented issues including poor concentration, frequent 

absences and detentions to poor concentration, low self esteem and inability to take responsibility for his 

actions. He was also at risk of fixed term or permanent exclusion due to his aggression. Before Place2Be 

intervention, Chris scored level two in Maths and Literacy.

Chris was the eldest of eight children; his mother was separated from his natural father. Social care was 

involved due to domestic violence and abuse. All the children were subject to a Child Protection Plan; 

other issues were substance and alcohol misuse by the adults in the family and overcrowding. Chris was 

the main carer. His absence from school stemmed from the lack of clean clothes and his mother’s need 

for him to do the shopping, cooking, changing and putting his younger siblings to bed

The Place2Be

The Place2Be is a charity working inside schools to improve the emotional well-being of children, their families 

and the whole school community. Its mission is to enhance the wellbeing and prospects of children and their 

families by providing access to therapeutic and emotional support in schools, using a proven model backed 

up by research. It is currently working with 172 schools across the UK, often in areas of great deprivation. 

Its services are available to 58,000 children coping with problems such as bereavement, family breakdown, 

domestic violence, trauma and bullying.

Place2Be



 The Centre for Social Justice    8

C
SJ A new approach to measuring child poverty 

The Child Poverty Act requires the Government to develop a Child Poverty Strategy which 

will be revised every three years. We broadly welcome the Coalition’s first Strategy, Tackling 

the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families’ Lives, as it signals a shift away from the 

narrow income-based poverty targets.14 The inclusion of family circumstances, children’s life 

chances and family structure as indicators are positive additions. However, as it stands, only 

the family resources section of the strategy (i.e. income poverty) is legislated for under the 

Child Poverty Act. 

The CSJ is clear that whilst this strategy goes well beyond the Child Poverty Act in recognising 

a whole range of factors that influence poverty besides income, these non-income indicators 

must be prioritised. We also have concerns over some of the details of both the income and 

non-income indicators. 

We set out below a new approach which centres on tackling the core drivers that keep the 

most disadvantaged entrenched in poverty, on the basis of the evidence in the previous section 

and elsewhere. It is important to underline that this paper focuses on the measurement of 

child, or more accurately in our view, family poverty. However the Government should also 

take into consideration new metrics for the different ways that poverty can be experienced 

by those who, for example, do not have children, and older people.

At the heart of this approach is a move away from a crude quantitative measure of what 

it means to experience poverty towards a recognition of the importance of the quality of 

people’s lives and relationships. This multidimensional approach will allow the Government to 

track its progress more effectively and identify which areas of its poverty reduction strategy 

require greatest attention. 

Re-defining income-related indicators 

1. Source of income 

An individual’s level of income matters, but so does the source of that income. It is important 

to make a distinction between different sources of income – notably between that which 

has been earned through gainful employment and that which has been obtained through 

welfare payments. The former is a sign of an individual’s self-reliance and is a more sustainable 

option as it offers them an opportunity to lift themselves out of poverty. The latter indicates 

that, despite income transfers from the state, the person is not self-reliant as they are most 

likely out of work. Economic dependency is a key driver of poverty which must be tackled, 

and welfare payments which are too high can actually undermine incentives to work or for 

individuals to lift themselves out of poverty. By treating all sources of income as of equal value, 

the Government is failing to differentiate between those who are being sustained on welfare 

payments and those who are in paid employment. This is counter-productive and must be 

reformed. 

14 HM Government, A New Approach to Child Poverty: Tackling the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families’ Lives, London: HM 

Government, 2010



Rethinking Child Poverty 9

C
SJ

2. Income vs. consumption 

A family may experience a temporary drop in earnings which sees their income fall below the 

poverty line, signifying that they are officially ‘in poverty’. However a high level of resources or 

assets may mean that they are able to smooth their consumption and maintain similar living 

standards in the short-term. There is a risk therefore that the current measure, which takes 

a ‘snapshot’ of individuals’ incomes at a fixed point in time, will make temporarily low income 

families appear to be in poverty. It does not account for the fact that incomes often fluctuate. 

For instance, a family may earn a moderate income for the first nine months of the year, but 

due to the nature of their employment earn very little or nothing for the remaining three 

months. However if a ‘snapshot’ of their income is taken during these last three months, their 

spending potential will be judged to be far lower than what it would be in reality, as it does 

not take into consideration the income they earned in the preceding months. Equally, it would 

be far higher if the ‘snapshot’ were taken during the first nine months. 

By contrast, as consumption decisions are normally based on permanent income as opposed 

to transitory income, temporarily income-poor households may not be classed as poor if 

consumption was made a proxy for living standards. It should be noted, however, that the 

academic literature is far from united in terms of whether using consumption as an indicator 

is appropriate.15 For instance, an individual may have a relatively high level of consumption 

but simultaneously be accumulating a large amount of debt. We therefore suggest the 

Government explores the possibility of using consumption levels, either as a complement or 

alternative to the current household income measure. 

3. Ability to save

An individual’s ability to save is a good predictor of being able or unable to afford particular goods 

and services. It also implies that they have developed strong financial capabilities. This financial 

security has positive consequences for children in the household. A household’s ability to save 

is not included in the current measure of poverty. We suggest the Government uses data from 

the Family Resources Survey and Wealth and Assets Survey in order to explore this as an indicator. 

Beyond income: a broader understanding of child poverty 

Below are a number of ‘risk factors’, which evidence shows increase the likelihood that a 

child is living in poverty. Whilst the prevalence of just one of these factors reflects a deficit 

in their well-being, we argue that the more of these ‘risk factors’ that are present, the lower 

the probability that a child is able to escape poverty. We therefore suggest the Government 

develops a graded measure. 

1. Poor parenting 

The importance of a positive upbringing cannot be underestimated. Children’s outcomes are 

directly and unavoidably linked to their family experience and any serious measure of poverty 

must reflect this.16

15 For example, see Institute for Fiscal Studies, Household spending in Britain: What can it teach us about poverty?, London, Institute for Fiscal 

Studies, 2006

16 Action for Children, Deprivation and risk: the case for early intervention, Action for Children: London, 2010



 The Centre for Social Justice    10

C
SJ

Central to good parenting is ensuring that children are ‘school ready’, enabling them to take 

full advantage of their 11 years of schooling to develop, rather than be in permanent and 

unsuccessful ‘catch-up’.17 We welcome the inclusion of low birth weight as a proxy for ‘school 

readiness’ in the Government’s Child Poverty Strategy, and suggest the Government explores 

additional proxies such as a child’s ability to dress themselves, be toilet trained and respond 

to their name. 

2. Unstable family structures

Our evidence shows that children who grow up in stable, two-parent and, in particular, 

married couple families have better mental and physical health outcomes than those who 

do not. They do better in school and are less likely to be involved in crime or substance 

abuse.18 Children from ‘broken homes’ are twice as likely as those from ‘intact’ families to have 

behavioural problems.19 Fewer than one in ten married parents have split by the time a child 

is five compared with more than one in three who were not married.20 We therefore suggest 

the Government explores indicators such as the percentage of households comprising two-

parent families and the percentage of these that are married. 

3. Workless households

It is widely accepted that work is the best and most sustainable route out of poverty. Research 

shows that poverty and entrenched or persistent worklessness are often intergenerational.21 

For instance, if a child grows up in a workless household, they are more likely to be out of 

work in later life themselves. A son with a workless father is likely to experience between 

8–11 per cent more time out of work themselves between the ages of 16 and 23.22 The 

nature and quality of the home environment is therefore a significant predictor of future life 

chances and opportunities. Earning money through gainful employment has many life changing 

advantages – people in work have better health; they develop strong social networks; and 

they become living proof to themselves and others around them of a link between effort 

and reward.23 The number of households where no one has ever worked has doubled since 

1997, and two million children are now growing up in workless households.24 We suggest the 

Government explore indicators which show the proportion and number of children living in 

households where one or more member does not work. 

However it is also the case that the rise of the number of lone parents working part-time 

has increased the prevalence of in-work poverty.25 It would therefore be wise for the 

Government to also explore indicators which show the proportion and number of children 

living in households that rely on benefits for a certain proportion of their income. 

17 Centre for Social Justice, Early Intervention: Good Parents, Great Kids, Better Citizens, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2010  

18 Centre for Social Justice, Breakthrough Britain: Family breakdown, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2010 

19 Meltzer H et al, Mental Health of Children and Adolescents in Great Britain, The Stationery Office: London, 2000

20 Analysis of Millennium Cohort Study corroborated by Goodman and Greaves, IFS Briefing Note BN107, 2010

21 Centre for Social Justice, Breakthrough Britain: Economic Dependency and Worklessness, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2007 

22 The Centre for Market and Public Organisation, Measuring the intergenerational correlation of worklessness, The Centre for Market and 

Public Organisation: Bristol, 2011

23 Centre for Social Justice, Dynamic Benefits: Towards welfare that works, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2009

24 Centre for Social Justice, Breakthrough Britain: Economic Dependency and Worklessness, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2007

25 Joseph Rowntree Foundation, Addressing in-work poverty, Joseph Rowntree Foundation: London, 2008 



Rethinking Child Poverty 11

C
SJ

4. Poor educational attainment 

Our education system should help transfer opportunity and wealth across our society, and 

between generations. Yet it is less likely today that a child with parents in a low income bracket 

will rise to the top income bracket than it was in 1970.26 Too many young people leave school 

without the skills and qualifications to secure a sustainable job and lead a fulfilling life. The 

existence of a quality school in a local area can offer hope and opportunity for young people 

to break free from their disadvantage. We suggest the Government explores indicators such 

as truancy rates and levels of academic attainment as proxies for attendance at a failing school.    

5. Addiction or substance abuse in the household

Around one and a half million children have a substance-abusing parent.27 Parental addiction 

or substance abuse often leaves children neglected, un-nurtured, and exposed to abuse 

inside and out of the home. The reality is that children are likely to repeat the chaotic and 

unpredictable behaviour of their parents. There is a pattern of one or both parents drinking 

or taking drugs and being abusive or neglectful to their children. In turn, those children 

are propelled into substance abuse which is likely to trigger truancy. Truancy then triggers 

educational failure, educational failure triggers unemployment, and unemployment in turn 

is a very high risk factor for increasing substance abuse. Substance abuse appears to be as 

much of a catalyst for family disruption and dysfunction as it is an outcome.28 We suggest the 

Government explores indicators such as the frequency and severity of alcohol/illegal drug 

consumption.

6. Severe personal debt in the household 

Unmanageable debt is a particular problem for low income families. Our research and polling 

shows that those in debt are more likely to be out of work, to have left school early, to have 

a history of alcohol or drug addiction, depression or a record of trouble with the police.29 

The future opportunities of individuals in such circumstances are therefore greatly reduced. 

With few savings to fall back on, poor financial literacy and little or no access to mainstream 

banking facilities, many individuals find themselves financially excluded and more vulnerable 

to unexpected changes. The number of pay-day lenders operating in disadvantaged areas is 

also on the rise, and the extremely high rates of interest charged for such lending can propel 

individuals further into debt and make their situation far worse. 

Furthermore, the level of income a family accumulates should be understood in the context 

of the income requirements of that family. For instance, whilst two families might have similar 

levels of income, the composition of those two families may be very different; the number 

of children, the expense of health requirements etc may vary, resulting in very different 

household budgeting needs. The expenditure requirements of one family may greatly exceed 

the requirements of the other, and this equivalisation is not fully accounted for in the current 

measure. 

26 Centre for Social Justice, Breakthrough Britain: Educational Failure, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2007

27 Centre for Social Justice, The state of the nation report: Addicted Britain, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2006 

28 Ibid

29 Centre for Social Justice, The state of the nation report: Indebtedness, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2006



 The Centre for Social Justice    12

C
SJ

We suggest the Government explores indicators such as levels of spending compared with 

income as a proxy for financial capability, and what the money accumulated by a household 

is actually spent on. It would also be useful to explore the proximity of pay-day lenders to 

disadvantaged families. 

7. Poor mental health

Children from the lowest quintile (20 per cent) of household income are three times more 

likely than those in the richest quintile to have common mental health problems.30 Children’s 

future relationships, their ability to fulfil their potential both educationally and in the workplace 

as well as their basic enjoyment of life are all threatened by mental illness and unmet 

emotional needs. We suggest the Government develops indicators which shed light on the 

mental and emotional well-being of children; this could be measured using well-established 

tools such as the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire.

8. Measuring local factors

Factors which are unique to a specific geographical area often have a particular bearing 

on the life chances and opportunities of young people. Examples include access to a good 

school and the employment prospects in an area. We suggest the Government explores the 

possibility of allowing local areas to decide on a set of indicators relevant to child poverty 

at a local level. 

9. Well-being measure 

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) is developing new measures of national well-being 

which will investigate the quality of life of people in the UK. The measure will examine 

different areas of well-being such as health, relationships, job satisfaction, economic security, 

education and environmental condition.31 Such an indicator will provide a wider subjective 

measure of social and economic progress. We suggest that the Government explores means 

of integrating this measure in a way which is relevant to child poverty. 

Collecting data and measuring outcomes

It is unfortunate that the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) has discontinued its 

annual Opportunity for All reports, which tracked the progress of a range of social indicators 

that affect children. This would have provided a valuable source of data to draw on. However 

the Government still collates and publishes a significant amount of other data, such as the 

Family Resources Survey, which is under-utilised at present. We also refer the Government to 

our recent publication, Outcome-based Government: How to improve spending decisions across 

Government, which offers clear guidance on how to design indicators with measurable fiscal, 

social and economic value.32 

30 Centre for Social Justice, Completing the Revolution: Transforming mental health and tackling poverty, Centre for Social Justice: London, 2011 

31 Office for National Statistics, Measuring National Well-being [accessed via: http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/user-guidance/well-

being/index.html (09.05.12)] 

32 Centre for Social Justice, Outcome-based Government: How to improve spending decisions across Government, Centre for Social Justice: 

London, 2011 



Rethinking Child Poverty 13

C
SJConclusion

The CSJ strongly believes that any strategy to tackle poverty should focus on the root causes 

of deprivation and the social breakdown which fuels it, not the symptoms. Yet the way the 

previous Government conceptualised and sought to measure poverty is deeply flawed. The 

legacy of this is a narrow and one-dimensional Child Poverty Act which focuses solely on 

income and material deprivation. This is despite huge swathes of evidence to demonstrate 

that poverty is about far more than this. 

The case studies from our Alliance clearly illustrate that poverty is not just about income, 

it is about family breakdown, educational failure, intergenerational worklessness, addiction, 

serious personal debt and poor mental health. It is absolutely vital that any serious measure of 

poverty reflects this. It is wholly unacceptable for such high and deep-seated levels of poverty 

to exist in the UK today. Such poverty devastates our communities and destroys the life 

chances of our children. We therefore call on the Government to make a bold commitment 

to confronting this problem head-on. Transforming the way poverty is measured would be 

a crucial first step. We urge the Government to review its Child Poverty Act in order to 

construct a measure of poverty which is fit for the 21st Century – it would be one of the 

most radical and commendable accomplishments of its period in office. 



The Centre for Social Justice 

1 Westminster Palace Gardens

Artillery Row

London

SW1P 1RL

www.centreforsocialjustice.org.uk

@CSJ_thinktank



This page is intentionally left blank



�������������

�

Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 
Summary 

���������	��


�� ���������	
���������������������

��	��������������������������������������

������������������������� �����!��
������

���������������������"�
������#��$��������

 �����������������%����������	���������

�����������#�"�����������������&�"�����

�������"��������������������	������$��������

���������� 	���������'������������

&�"����������������������� ������	�����

�������������������
������	������$"$���(� ����

��	����$�)�'����*��������������������'�

��'���	��������������*��������������
�������

������� ������	�������������������
���������

��'� 
��$�


�$ ��������� ����
	����+��� ����'����

 ���
�����	������*�'��������"����������#�

�������
����������		���
��������� ����

�����,
���	������$��������� ��������
�������

����
�������������-�����
��	�����	�������

���������������*�'���������������

"��"��	������������ �����������.�����������

#��'�������'���/
	���0
�	
��1�����2�

�/01��*�'����$��*3�����������$����������

���"����"������4%�������������������'����

�������	�������	��������� ����������

��	������������""��"����������� ����

'������������ �*�& 	��� ���*�)����������

�������*�&�
�����*�/#�������������"*�

5����������)�
��"�����/������*����"�

&����� ���������� �$��

�

��
�������
����
����


4$ ���� ���	���������"��"������6�

• /�
��� 	���������#���������
���������������

����������
���������4�7��������
��������

�'��������8
�������� ������	������!������	�

������	��������������+�

• �������/�
��� 	���9��	�	
������������

���� ������	������/01����&�"������

• /�
��� 	����	����� ��'������������� ��

�� ���'�������/01��������'�������(���

&�"�����!����������������3��/01�������

���+$��

• ���������
���/�
��� 	�����/01��������

'�������(�����5����������)�
��"�:�

/��������� ��*��� 	��������3������+��

• ����	��������������.����'�������/01����

����'�������(���������� ���

• 1���������� ���6�0�������������������

�5�������'���������73(���������������"���

��� ����	������$������������� ����������

�����+��7;(�$�/�
��� 	���������'���������

'�������������������	������/01��������

/�
���&����������� ����	��������������"�

������	��	������������������5�����'���$�

�

;$ ��������������'����������������������������

�������"����������/01����������� ���'����

�����������(� ������	�������&�"����6�

�


  ��
��
�������!���"�


#�$��
��!��
%��!��
&����


	�
���
���
'���
(�!�	)��


	�
*�������

(���	�
 +�	���	��
 �(


����


�(


����


������


&�
�����*�/#��������

�����"�

�
�+� �<� ��

���"�&����� ���� � <� �7� ��

)������:��������� � %� 3� ��

���� �� � %� %� � �

�� �� � �7� 3�� ��

5����������)�
��"�

����/�������

�
3� �� ��

& 	��� ���� � 4� 3� ��

�

3$ ���������
	�/�" ����;���	���� �����������

����������"����������'�����������6����������

	��	��*���
�"�	��	��������"��������
����

��������'�����
�������������������$
=���

����
������������"��
	����
��6������	������*�

��
�"���"���*����������� ����*����"���

��
���������*���'� ������'���!���"*�������

� �#���*��������������
�������� ����������

�"��1:&��� �����$��

�

  ��
��
�������!���"�


#�$��
��!��
%��!��


&����
	�
���
���


'���
(�!�	)��
	�


*������


 ��
��
�������!���"�


#�$��
��!��
%��!��


&����
	�
���
���
'���


(�!�	)��
	�
*�������




�� ���

.
�
"
�
�
�
"
�

��
��
�
�
+
�

��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
�
"
�
�

5
�
�
�
�
�

5
�
��
��
�
�

�
�
��
��
�
#
�

>
�
�
�
�
�
"
�
�

.
�
�
��
��
�
�

���� �� � ��$3(� %� %� � � �� �� �� �� ��

& 	��� ���� ��$3(� 4� 3� �� �� �� �� �� ��

)������:�

��������
�4$3(� %� 3� �� �� �� �� �� ��

&�
�����*�

/#��������

�����"�

�4$3(� �+� �<� �� �� +� 4� +� 4�

5����������

)�
��"�����

/�������

<$4(� 3� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��

�� �� <$4(� �7� 3�� �� 3� 7� 3� 3� ��

���"�

&����� ����
<$4(� <� �7� �� 4� �� �� �� ��

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 6



������������

�

Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 

,	�����
!�	��	��
#�%&


?����� �

���������6����"����>����:���������>����

�������#6��>�����"��)��*�@�"�����>��������

�
 �����.���

>�����"�6��������@��#�����.���
���>����

.�����6��������������.���

�

,�$
����
�������!���
���!���-


7$ ���������'�"����������'������ 	������

���'�������������������#�"�/�
��� 	����

�����������������$��5��������������

@���� �
�������� ������+�	������

������"������������������������� ����

��	���������������+�'�����

��������5��������3�	�����������?����"�� ��+�

	������������ 	��������������#�"$�

�

�

�

�'(


����


.��/


�'(


����


.��/


������
0$����


�
	�
����


��!�	)��1


����	����������� �� �� ���� 


������������������ ;� ;� ���� 


5� �"�� �������� ��� <� ��

?����"�� � �4� ��� ��

?�'������� 4+� ;�� ��

/��������������� 74� 37� ��

������������� %3� 7%� ��

@���� �
��� <4� +7� ��

5������ 7;� +<� ��

/�
��� 	���� <�� %�� ��







 ��2��
��
#�%&�
	�
����
��!�	)��
���
	�
*������
2�
+���





3�	��
����	��
���
���
�
��!
�����
	�
���
�	��4






� � � (���	��

���� ���� �� & 	��� ���� )������
&�
������

����/#����

5����������

��
��"����$�
�� ��

���"�

&����� ����.����

���+� ����� ���+� ����� ���+� ����� ���+� ����� ���+� ����� ���+� ����� ���+� ����� ���+� �����

5��"���� � � � � � � �� �� � � �� �� �� 3� � �

5������� � � � � � � � � �� �� 4� �� �� �� �� ��

5����� �� �� �� �� �� �� 3� �� �� �� � � 4� 3� �� 3�

5������� 4� �� �� �� �� �� � � ;� +� � � 4� 7� � �

5�������@��#� � � � � � � � � � � � � � 4� � �

��-����� � � � � � � � � 3� ;� � � 4� �� � �

A��� ������ � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� �� ��

)�������� � � �� �� � � � � �� �� � � � ;� � �

�������#� �� �� �� �� � � � � 4� 4� � � 4� 3� � ��

@�������� � � � � � � � � � � � � �� 4� �� 4�

@����'���� � � � � � � � � � � � � 4� �� �� ��

>�����"�� �� 4� �� �� � �� � � 7� +� � � � 3� �� �

/������ � � � � � � � � �� �� � � �� 4� � �

/����"� � � � � � � � � � � �� �� � � � �

/'������"� � � � � � � � � �� �� � � 4� 4� � ��

.�������� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� �� 4� 4� � � �� �� � ��

/�
��� 	���������� <� <� %� %� 4� 3� %� 3� �+� �<� 3� �� �7� 3�� <� �7�

���������6����"����

>������>������

��������>������>��

�������#6��>�����"��)���

�>)�*�@�"�����>�����@>��

�����
 �����.�����.��

>�����"�6��������

@��#�����.���
���

>����

>��#�"���/�
��� 	��������

�� ��	����� �����

���� ������

�>� �>�

.�����6�

�������������

.���

?����� �

>)� @>� �.� �@� .>�

0����������#�"�� �� 3� 4� �� ;� �;� +� <� 7�

���� �� � �� 3� �� 4� ;� �<� ��� 7� +�

& 	��� ���� �� 7� �� 4� +� �;� �7� �4� ���

)������:��������� +� ��� �� 4� ��� �<� ;4� �4� �+�

&�
�����*�/#�������������"� �� 3� �+� ��� 7� �7� �� �;� 4�

5����������)�
��"�����

/�������
73� %7� <�� ��� �4� +�� �4�� 37� <;�

�� �� �� �4� +<� 7� ;� �+� 4� �3� ���

���"�&����� ���� +<� +7� ��+� �;� +�� 4�� 74� +;� 7��

���� ����	��������������"�

���������
�� %� �� 3� 4� ��� ��� ��� ;�

���� ����	��������������"�

������	��	���
;�� ;�� +� 7� 4+� ;;� ��� �7� 4��



APPENDIX 4 

SUMMARY OF FEEDBACK FROM LOCAL COUNCIL TAX SCHEME 
CONSULTATION: GENERAL CONCERNS AROUND THE WELFARE 
REFORMS (UP TO 30TH OCTOBER 2012).  

Q 20: Do you have any issues/concerns/comments about more general 
changes to welfare benefits?

Awareness and Information about the changes: 

• Particular concerns around the mpact on vulnerable people and 
families. 

• The ability to target and support those most affected by the changes. 

• Lack of awareness amongst those who are going to be affected. 

• Lack of information on the changes should be addressed.  

Concern about reductions in household income: 

• Managing household budgets and being worse off/ pushed into poverty 
– children going without food, increased debt, use of loan sharks, 
losing their homes, DV, suicides, crime. 

• The amount people will have to find out of benefits to cover CT (‘£6 is a 
huge amount for me’). 

• Some tenants could run into difficulties where they now have to pay 
rent direct to landlord. 

• The ‘freeze’ on benefits but the expectation on households to pay out 
more (CT/ underoccupancy). 

Concern about direct and indirect impacts: 

• Under-occupancy impacts on disabled people/carers and those 
separated but with children who stay over.  

• Fairness of exemptions for pensioners, exceptions and discretion? 

• Impact on disabled people – and their carers (alongside all the changes 
that are happening to disability benefits) and those who can’t work. 

• Impact on health (including mental health) and health services. 

• Increased evictions, summons and unrest. 

Local Economy:  

• The ‘war’ on benefit claimants and unfair on those who are looking for 
work but can’t get a job – lack of employment opportunities generally. 

• Money devoted to helping people find a suitable career path is now 
being paid to agencies of variable quality.  

• More attention should be given to the contribution people on low 
income make to the local economy, as any welfare benefits generally 
get spent in the local area.  

Other comments:  

• Local changes to Council Tax might reduce profits to landlords. 

• People should work for their benefits. 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 7



• Council Tax changes make it fairer for people who pay full council tax. 
Benefit recipients should share the costs of the services they use. 

• The reforms might cost the government more money in the long run. 

• The council should stand up to national government about the cuts. 

• The costs of the economic crisis are being passed on (back-handed 
cuts) – and ‘stop attacking the poorer people and start taking it from the 
very top level.  

• The council should show more empathy and be more joined up - i.e. if 
your (benefit) payments don’t come through, so you can’t pay -you 
shouldn’t be penalised. 

• The consultation won’t influence decision and there should have been 
more opportunity to comment 

• Politicians are out of touch with the daily realities of those living on 
benefits. 



Plus You Limited: Resident Survey October 2012 

Survey of 50 Residents:  

Do you currently receive any of the following benefits? Housing/Council 
Tax, Job Seekers Allowance, Incapacity Benefit, Income Support, Income 
based or Child Tax Credits, Disability Benefit, Other benefit 

1. Are you aware of the proposed changes to the benefits system and 
how they will affect you?   

2. Do you know how these changes will affect you and the amount of 
benefit you will receive?    

3. Do you have concerns about the changes to the benefits system and 
the amount of money you will receive after the changes are made?  

4. Plus You Limited will be arranging a Benefit Changes Information day, 
where you can find out the information regarding the changes would 
you like to attend?  

The response was 
1. 50 received benefit one or more of the benefit, 
2.  2 were aware of the changes, but didn’t understand them 
3. 48 said they were unaware until now, when explained HB and CTB 

would be change in April all 49 had concerns about the changes and 
how much benefit they will receive, 1 said she didn’t care. 

4. 49 would attend information here at Hightown. 
5. 1 person would not attend the information day 

During the consultation, residents were asked if they had received the City 
View.  

• 21 said yes 

• 10 they didn’t know 

• 19 said no 

• Almost all said they never read it 

Other comments received were: 
Parent 1: I no longer get Income support and have been forced onto JSA, I 
would work but being a lone parent it’s difficult to find affordable childcare and 
job that allows me to work around school hours. 
Parent 2: The Government are tarring everyone with the same brush, I am on 
Incapacity which I will lose I can’t work but will be forced to. 
Parent 3: What’s happening to my DLA? 

All respondents asked questions regarding Welfare Reform, I obviously 
couldn’t answer those individual questions as I’m not a benefit advisor, apart 
from informing that things like HB and CTB are changes from April and we are 
hoping to get DWP JSP SCC and 3rd sector organisation along to a benefit 
changes awareness day (as previously mentioned) 



This page is intentionally left blank



�
�

�
�

�
�

�

S
C

H
E

D
U

L
E

 O
F

 A
C

T
IO

N
S

 
�

�

R
E

Q
U

E
S

T
 F

O
R

 F
U

R
T

H
E

R
 I

N
F

O
R

M
A

T
IO

N
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 T

O
 B

E
 

T
A

K
E

N
 

P
E

R
S

O
N

 
R

E
S

P
O

N
S

IB
L

E
 

A
C

T
IO

N
 

C
O

M
P

L
E

T
E

D
 

D
A

T
E

 

F
ro

m
 M

e
e
ti
n
g

 1
: 

2
5
 O

c
to

b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
 

W
e
lf
a
re

 r
e
fo

rm
s
 c

o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s
 p

la
n
 

T
o
 p

re
s
e
n
t 
to

 p
a
n
e
l 
a
t 

a
 f

u
tu

re
 m

e
e
ti
n
g

 T
B

C
 

S
a
ra

 C
ra

w
fo

rd
 

 
 

L
e
g

a
l 
e
q

u
a
lit

ie
s
 c

h
a
lle

n
g
e
s
 

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 r

e
s
e
a
rc

h
 

a
n
d
 f

e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 t
o
 p

a
n
e
l 

S
a
ra

 C
ra

w
fo

rd
 /
 D

o
tt

ie
 

G
o
b
le

 
 

 

U
n
iv

e
rs

a
l 
C

re
d
it
 p

ilo
t 

in
 N

o
rt

h
 E

a
s
t 

 
T

o
 f

e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 a

t 
fu

tu
re

 
m

e
e
ti
n
g

 T
B

C
 

B
e
rn

a
d
e
tt

e
 H

a
g

a
n
 

 
 

J
C

P
 S

u
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 P

la
n
 –

 b
id

 f
o
r 

g
a
p
s
 i
n
 

a
d
v
ic

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

T
o
 c

ir
c
u
la

te
 p

la
n
 t

o
 

p
a
n
e
l.
 

B
e
rn

a
d
e
tt

e
 H

a
g

a
n
 

 
 

J
C

P
 k

e
y
 s

ta
ti
s
ti
c
s
  

T
o
 c

ir
c
u
la

te
 t

o
 p

a
n
e
l 

B
e
rn

a
d
e
tt

e
 H

a
g

a
n
 

 
 

L
a
b
o
u
r 

m
a
rk

e
t 
s
ta

ti
s
ti
c
s
 

T
o
 c

ir
c
u
la

te
 t

o
 p

a
n
e
l 

S
a
ra

 C
ra

w
fo

rd
 

�
�
�
�
�
�
��

�
�
	


��
�
��
��
�

2
2
/1

1
/1

2
 

G
re

e
n
 P

a
p
e
r 

o
n
 S

E
N

 p
a
th

fi
n
d
e
rs

 t
ra

n
s
la

ti
n
g
 

s
k
ill

s
 

T
o
 c

ir
c
u
la

te
 t

o
 p

a
n
e
l 

D
e
n
is

e
 E

d
g

h
ill

 
 

 

B
e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 e

x
a
m

p
le

s
  

•
 

C
it
y
 L

im
it
s
 E

m
p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 
 

•
 

W
h
e
a
ts

h
e
e
f 
 T

ru
s
t 

•
 

B
a
rn

a
d
o
s
 1

8
-2

4
  

T
o
 a

tt
e
n
d
 /
 c

ir
c
u
la

te
 t
o
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g

 
D

o
tt

ie
 G

o
b
le

 
 

 

E
m

e
rg

in
g

 c
o
m

m
e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 r

e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 

to
 L

o
c
a
l 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

 

•
 

T
o
 e

s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

n
 a

p
p
e
a
l/
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 
s
y
s
te

m
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 c

a
n
n
o
t 

a
ff

o
rd

 
o
r 

m
a
y
 f

in
d
 i
t 
m

o
re

 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
 t

o
 p

a
y
. 

 

•
 

R
e
v
ie

w
 c

u
rr

e
n
t 

p
o
lic

y
 t

o
 p

u
rs

u
e
 d

e
b
t 

T
o
 b

e
 t
a
b
le

d
 a

t 
p
a
n
e
l 

m
e
e
ti
n
g

 2
2
/1

1
/1

2
 

C
h
a
ir
 o

f 
P

a
n
e
l 

 
 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

d
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 s
u
p
p
o
rt

 
T

o
 b

e
 t
a
b
le

d
 a

t 
p
a
n
e
l 

m
e
e
ti
n
g

 2
2
/1

1
/1

2
 

P
a
u
l 
M

e
d

la
n
d
 

 
 

L
o
c
a
l 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 c

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 –

 i
n
te

ri
m

 
fe

e
d
b
a
c
k
 

T
o
 b

e
 t
a
b
le

d
 a

t 
p
a
n
e
l 

m
e
e
ti
n
g

 2
2
/1

1
/1

2
 

P
a
u
l 
M

e
d

la
n
d
 

S
u
m

m
a
ry

 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 

o
n
 w

e
lf
a
re

 r
e
fo

rm
s
 

in
 r

e
p
o
rt

  

2
2
/1

1
/1

2
 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 8



S
tu

d
e
n
t 
C

o
u
n
c
il 

T
a
x
 E

x
e
m

p
ti
o
n
 -

 H
o
w

 m
u
c
h
 

c
o
u
n
c
il 

ta
x
 r

e
v
e
n
u
e
 i
s
 b

e
in

g
 m

is
s
e
d
?
 

C
ir
c
u
la

te
 t

o
 p

a
n
e
l 

S
te

v
e
 O

ln
e
y
 

 
 

D
e
ta

ils
 o

f 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 b
e
s
t 
p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 

e
x
a
m

p
le

s
 

•
 

C
re

d
it
 U

n
io

n
 –

 j
a
m

 j
a
r 

a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

 

•
 

C
ri
s
is

 f
a
ir
 s

h
a
re

 –
 s

u
p
e
rm

a
rk

e
ts

 

•
 

B
a
s
ic

s
 B

a
n
k
s
 

C
ir
c
u
la

te
 t

o
 p

a
n
e
l 

S
a
ra

 C
ra

w
fo

rd
 

 
 

Im
p
a
c
t 

o
f 
W

e
lf
a
re

 R
e
fo

rm
s
 -

 O
u
tl
in

e
 o

f 
p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
in

d
ir
e
c
t 
im

p
a
c
ts

 t
o
 o

rg
a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 

T
o
 b

e
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 t

o
 

fu
tu

re
 m

e
e
ti
n
g

  
J
a
n
u
a
ry

 

S
a
ra

 C
ra

w
fo

rd
 /
 D

o
tt

ie
 

G
o
b
le

 
R

e
le

v
a
n
t 

S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

 
 

M
a
tr

ix
 o

f 
im

p
a
c
t 
o
f 

w
e
lf
a
re

 r
e
fo

rm
s
 

T
o
 b

e
 p

re
s
e
n
te

d
 t

o
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

m
e
e
ti
n
g

 
S

a
ra

 C
ra

w
fo

rd
 

 
 

�



Managing the impact of 
Housing Benefit reform

REPORT BY THE 
COMPTROLLER AND 
AUDITOR GENERAL

HC 681
SESSION 2012-13

1 NOVEMBER 2012

Department for Work and Pensions

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 9



4 Key facts Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform

Key facts

54 per cent increase in real expenditure on Housing Benefit between 2001-02 

and 2011-12

£23.9 billion projected Housing Benefit spending in real terms in 2014-15 

without reforms 

£21.6 billion projected Housing Benefit spending in real terms in 2014-15 

after reforms

1.4 million households who could be affected by changes to Local Housing 

Allowance rules by 2014-15

56,000 households affected by the overall benefit cap by 2014-15

£390 million central government funding for Discretionary Housing Payments 

between 2011-12 and 2014-15

£23.4bn
Housing Benefit spending 

in real terms in 2011-12 

5.0m
households receiving 

Housing Benefit

£2.3bn
forecast saving from 

reforms in 2014-15



Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform Summary 5

Summary

1 Housing Benefit helps those on a low income in Great Britain to pay all or part of 

their rent. It supported 5.0 million households in May 2012. Around 3.4 million of these 

households were in the social rented sector, mostly as tenants of local authorities and 

housing associations. The remaining 1.6 million rented from private landlords.

2 In 2011-12 real expenditure on Housing Benefit totalled £23.4 billion, 14 per cent 

of total benefit expenditure by the Department for Work and Pensions (the Department). 

Expenditure on Housing Benefit increased by 54 per cent in real terms between 2001-02 

and 2011-12.

3 The amount of Housing Benefit a household receives depends on their personal 

circumstances and where they live. Claimants in receipt of certain other benefits such as 

income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance have an automatic entitlement. Other claimants 

must undergo a separate means test. Claimants in the social rented sector usually have 

their rent paid in full. Those living in private rented accommodation receive support 

determined by Local Housing Allowance rates that reflect local rent levels. In March 2012 

households received an average weekly payment of £77 per week in the social sector 

and £107 per week in the private sector.

4 The Department is responsible for Housing Benefit policy, setting of entitlement 

rules and informing local authorities of these rules. It also makes available personal data 

for other benefits, funds Housing Benefit, and provides guidance and advice. Local 

authorities undertake the day to day administration of Housing Benefit. In 2011-12 the 

Department provided combined funding of £546 million to local authorities to administer 

Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit. 

5 Housing Benefit for social sector tenants is generally paid directly to housing 

providers. Claimants in the private rented sector receive Housing Benefit payments 

directly unless there are specific circumstances, such as where the local authority 

considers that the tenant is likely to have difficulty managing their affairs, or if it is 

improbable that they will pay their rent. Around 29 per cent of private sector claimants 

have payments made directly to their landlords.

6 As part of the measures announced in the emergency budget in June 2010 and 

the Spending Review of October 2010, the Government announced changes to Housing 

Benefit which aimed to reduce annual expenditure by around £2.3 billion. These include 

reductions to Local Housing Allowance rates for private rented sector claimants and 

deductions in payments to social sector tenants in under-occupied homes. From 

April 2013 the Government is also introducing a cap on the total amount of benefit that 

working age people can receive. The cap will be administered through reductions in 

Housing Benefit payments until the introduction of Universal Credit. 



6 Summary Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform

7 Figure 1 summarises the reforms discussed in this report. A more detailed 

explanation of the changes to Housing Benefit can be found in Appendix Three. 

8 Housing Benefit reforms are taking place in a context of major spending reductions 

and welfare reforms. From October 2013 the Department will introduce Universal Credit 

to replace several mainly working age benefits. The Department will administer the 

housing component of Universal Credit, and local authorities will phase out their role in 

the administration of Housing Benefit. The Department is proposing to increase direct 

payments of housing support to tenants rather than landlords.

Figure 1

Summary of Housing Benefi t reforms

Change Description From Private

tenants

Social 

tenants

LHA – Caps National cap on LHA rates for each size of dwelling to remove very 

high rates in high rent areas.

April 2011

LHA – Excess Removal of rule allowing claimants to keep up to £15 of benefits 

if rent is below LHA rate.

April 2011

LHA – Benchmark Rates to be set at 30th percentile of local rents rather than 50th 

percentile (superseded by uprating changes).

April 2011

LHA – Shared 

accommodation

Shared accommodation rate to apply to single people between 

ages of 25 and 34 years.

January 2012

LHA – Uprating Annual uprating of rates by the Consumer Price Index or the 30th 

percentile of local market rents if this is lower.

April 2013

Social sector 

size criteria

Households assessed to be under-occupying their accommodation 

will have their entitlement reduced by 14 per cent or 25 per cent 

depending on whether the under-occupation is by one-bedroom or 

two bedrooms or more. 

April 2013

Non-dependant 

deductions

Freeze since April 2001 removed for non-dependant deductions 

from Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit.

April 2011

Overall benefit cap Total household benefit payments to be capped at £500 per week 

for a family and £350 per week for a single person and applied 

through reductions in Housing Benefit until Universal Credit 

is introduced.

April 2013

NOTE

1 Abbreviation: LHA - Local Housing Allowance

Source: National Audit Offi ce summary of departmental publications



Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform Summary 7

The scope of this report

9 Achieving savings in Housing Benefit will mean that households receive less 

in benefits, creating hard choices about how to reduce expenditure. Although these 

choices are largely set by Government policy, the Department has a crucial role in 

anticipating and managing the impact of reforms on claimants and the administration.

10 The Department is still in the process of implementing reforms. At this early stage 

the Department has undertaken impact assessments for reforms and put in place 

support to smooth the transition for claimants. The Department also has plans to 

evaluate impacts further over time.

11 The Department faces significant possible complications from household behaviour 

change and impacts on broader housing markets. This report therefore considers 

how the Department is positioned to tackle the challenges for implementation and in 

particular how it has: 

Assessed the impacts of Housing Benefit reforms on claimants and public 

spending and taken steps to improve its understanding of impacts over time 

(Part One).

Put in place support for claimants to mitigate uncertain adverse consequences 

(Part Two).

Planned for future risks arising from reforms, particularly as a result of interactions 

between Housing Benefit and the wider system of housing support (Part Three).

12 The report does not evaluate the merit of the reforms themselves. Our findings are 

based on a review of existing assessments by the Department supported by interviews 

and additional analysis where required. A more detailed explanation of our methodology 

can be found in Appendices One and Two.

Key findings 

Assessing the impact of reforms

13 The Department expects Housing Benefit reforms to save £2.3 billion a 

year by 2014-15. In the absence of reforms the Department forecasts Housing Benefit 

spending to rise to £23.9 billion in real terms by 2014-15. The Department expects that 

as a result of reforms real expenditure on Housing Benefit will fall to around £21.6 billion 

by 2014-15, saving around £2.3 billion per year (paragraphs 1.3 to 1.6).

14 The Department has estimated the direct impacts of reforms on households’ 

existing entitlements. The Department has used benefit data and family resources 

survey data to produce and publish estimates of how benefit entitlements would change 

for different households as a result of the reforms. For the most part the Department’s 

impact assessments have adjusted for the cumulative effect of the reforms and avoided 

double counting (paragraphs 1.10 to 1.14).



8 Summary Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform

15 Reforms will result in around two million households receiving lower benefits, 

with a smaller number of households receiving substantially less. The Department’s 

impact assessments estimate that 1.4 million claimants in the private rented sector will 

be affected by changes to Local Housing Allowance. Around 85 per cent of households 

will lose £15 or less. Claimants with large numbers of children and those living in high 

rent areas such as London will be most affected. In the social rented sector, 660,000 

claimants with one or more extra bedrooms could lose between 14 and 25 per cent of 

their Housing Benefit (an average loss of £14 a week). The overall benefit cap will affect 

56,000 households losing on average £91 per week (paragraphs 1.7 to 1.9).

16 The Department’s impact assessments are necessarily narrowly focused at 

this stage and do not reflect the full scale of potential impacts from the reforms.

The Department’s impact assessments openly recognise the limitations of estimating 

the direct impact of reforms on entitlements. The full impact of reforms will depend 

on the responses of households and the broader housing market. These behavioural 

responses are highly uncertain and could be both positive, for example if employment 

increases, or negative, for example if homelessness increases. Given the uncertainty 

around responses the Department has commissioned independent research to evaluate 

the impact of reforms after implementation. Initial survey findings were published 

in summer 2012, an interim report is due in early 2013 and the final report is due in 

early 2014 (Figure 5 on page 17 and paragraphs 1.21 to 1.22 and 1.26).

17 Reforms are placing additional administrative burdens on local authorities 

and could lead to risks for effective implementation. Local authorities currently 

receive notifications from the Department of changes to claimant circumstances via the 

Automated Transfers to Local Authority Systems (ATLAS). The system has helped to 

reduce overpayments but volumes of notifications are very high as even small changes 

in circumstances trigger notifications. Volumes are likely to increase further under the 

reforms, placing a large administrative burden on local authorities. The Department is still 

developing estimates of the administrative cost of reforms (paragraphs 1.17 to 1.19). 

Supporting claimants

18 The Department is phasing in some reforms to give existing claimants time to 

prepare. Most reforms to Local Housing Allowance are being phased in to give existing 

claimants time to adjust to their new entitlement. In some cases claimants may have up 

to 21 months after introduction of the reform before changes take effect (paragraph 2.3). 

19 Many people know very little about the changes to housing support and 

communication of changes to claimants has been variable. The Department has 

sent letters to inform affected households about the financial implications of entitlement 

changes under the benefit cap. Communicating other changes to Housing Benefit is 

currently the responsibility of local authorities. The Department has worked with them to 

publicise the nature of benefit reforms by providing guidance, standard letters, factsheets 

and responses to frequently asked questions which local authorities are free to use 

or amend. It also provides supporting tools, such as online calculators for the overall 

benefit cap and Local Housing Allowance. Communications to claimants vary depending 



Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform Summary 9

on where they live and changes could be confusing for claimants affected by multiple 

reforms. Awareness remains low; surveys of private rented sector respondents carried 

out between September 2011 and November 2011 found that 87 per cent knew not very 

much or nothing at all about the changes that will affect them (paragraphs 2.4 to 2.6).

20 The Department has anticipated the need to put in place additional funding to 

support claimants. Over the Spending Review period the Department has set aside up 

to £390 million of funding for Discretionary Housing Payments for local authorities to tackle 

transitional consequences of reforms. Funding can also be topped up by local authorities. 

It is not clear how the overall level of funding has been determined or whether it is likely to 

be sufficient to tackle the effects of reforms. The total amount represents six per cent of 

the total savings expected from the Housing Benefit reforms over the Spending Review 

period, or around £200 per household affected (paragraphs 2.11 and 2.14 to 2.18).

Planning for future challenges

21 Reforms will put pressure on the supply of affordable local housing. From 

April 2013 Local Housing Allowance limits will be uprated to the new 30th percentile 

of local rent levels or if lower by the Consumer Price Index (CPI). The introduction of 

the CPI into the calculation could lead to shortages in many local authority areas of 

private rented accommodation with rents at or below Local Housing Allowance rates. 

Downward pressure on rents or increased employment would mitigate the impact, but 

on current trends 48 per cent of local authority areas in England could face shortfalls by 

2017 (paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4). 

22 Housing market effects present a major challenge for local authorities and 

other stakeholders. Shortfalls in housing supply could lead to migration between areas, 

administrative complexity and higher demand for Discretionary Housing Payments and 

other services provided by the Department and other stakeholders. Changes to rules 

on social sector under-occupation may simultaneously exacerbate shortages of smaller 

social housing. While predicting impacts with any certainty may not be possible, simple 

leading indicators could be monitored to gauge the level of pressure on households. 

The Department has no process to review the level of funding and support it gives to 

local authorities as a result of housing market impacts. The Department plans to monitor 

divergences between the rates and rents in each area so it can intervene in the setting 

of Housing Benefit limits if local rents become seriously out of reach of most benefit 

claimants (paragraphs 3.7 to 3.10 and 3.14 to 3.15).



10 Summary Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform

Conclusion

23 The Department has adopted an active approach in preparing for the 

implementation of Housing Benefit reform. It has used available data to assess the 

impact of reforms on current entitlements and has been open about the need to 

evaluate the impacts that might arise from household behaviour and administrative 

reform. The Department has also put in place a range of support for claimants through 

the implementation of reforms.

24 The Department has plans in place to improve its understanding of impacts and is 

working with local authorities to identify administrative costs and funding requirements. 

It clearly has further ground to cover in: helping to raise awareness of the effect of the 

reforms on claimants; improving systems of delivering information to local authorities; 

and developing a set of leading indicators. We see the main ‘unplanned’, and perhaps 

‘un-plannable’, challenges facing the Department as being those areas where the 

interaction of local authority funding capacity constraints, social housing stock, 

rental market conditions and the local economy may produce extreme impacts. The 

Department’s response will need to be flexible and coordinated well with other sources 

of support.

Recommendations 

25 We recognise that housing support is a complex area and that the Department is 

undertaking additional research into the impacts of reforms. To support the Department 

in introducing reforms effectively and with minimal adverse consequences for claimants 

we recommend that the Department should: 

a Improve the information available to claimants on likely entitlement changes 

in order to raise awareness.

Early awareness of the extent of changes to benefits would help households 

to prepare for reforms and smooth the demand for advice and support.

The Department has worked with local authorities, housing associations, and 

claimant groups to communicate changes. It considers that local targeting 

and face-to-face initiatives such as drop-in sessions are likely to be more 

effective than simply relying on websites and national campaigns. Even so 

they have so far struggled to raise awareness.

Some local authorities publicise all reforms on their websites while others do 

not. The Department should work with local authority stakeholders to identify 

the most appropriate mode and timing of communication materials and 

activity, and identify and utilise synergies and good practice.



Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform Summary 11

A letter highlighting the scale of monetary change from all reforms would 

help convey the personal impact of the reforms to claimants, and reduce the 

need for separate correspondence for each reform. The Department does not 

have the systems to provide a clear statement of the total monetary change 

in benefits. It also has concerns that providing claimants with an assessment 

of possible benefit entitlement may simply mislead or confuse because a 

statement may be out of date by the time change happens.

The Department provides online tools for households to estimate the impact 

of some but not all of the reforms. It concluded that it would be difficult to 

build a calculator for the social size criteria because the calculation is not 

straightforward. Nonetheless, including social sector size criteria and non-

dependent deductions in online calculators could better help customers to 

plan their finances and identify potential errors and complex cases.

b Review the burdens and risks of implementing reforms using current 

administrative systems. 

The volume of changes to claims could place a high administrative burden 

on local authorities. The Department has allowed more time than usual for 

preparatory work and worked with housing associations to provide local 

authorities with information about tenants who will be affected.

Readiness testing of some local authorities could help identify problems 

before social sector changes take place.

c Establish a clear process for reviewing the level, allocation and monitoring 

of Discretionary Housing Payment funding. 

The Department has increased funding for Discretionary Housing Payments 

as a flexible short-term measure to support implementation of reforms.

Accurately predicting the level of funding needed is difficult because it is 

highly challenging to determine levels of need before the introduction of 

reforms. The Department is reviewing its arrangements for Discretionary 

Housing Payments. A robust and transparent process is needed for reviewing 

whether the level of funding allocated to local authorities should be increased 

or decreased to reflect actual levels of need.



12 Summary Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform

d Work with the Department for Communities and Local Government and local 

authorities to monitor the effect of reforms and develop the capacity for 

responding flexibly to impacts resulting from housing market interactions.

The Departments have a joint programme of evaluation in place to assess the 

impacts of reforms.

In the meantime reforms could create significant pressures on local authorities 

in managing the supply and demand for affordable housing. The Departments 

have compared supply and demand of different property sizes to identify 

imbalances at the national level but not at regional levels.

Leading indicators of pressures on housing affordability (such as rent levels 

and homelessness data) should complement periodic evaluation; analysis of 

housing shortfalls across local authorities could help to identify local risks. 

The Department should consider how best to work with other stakeholders 

to tackle issues as they emerge, including where responsibilities lie.



Agenda Item 7
Appendix 10









�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�



�

�

�







�

�

�

�



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�









�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�





�

�

�

�







�





�



�

�

�

�



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�





�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�









�

�

�

�



















�

�

�

�























�

�

�

�

�

�

�



�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�

�




	Agenda
	6 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Including Matters Arising)
	Council Tax
	Social Fund

	7 Welfare Reforms Inquiry Meeting 2: Setting the Scene
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Appendix 7
	Appendix 8
	Appendix 9
	Appendix 10


